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Brugge
51˚12’33.96”N - 3˚13’30.86”E

Brugge
Dudzelestw. 23/ 

Fort Lapin/
6 713 m2/ 
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Risk management

Representative real estate portfolio  
with discount store chains as tenants
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98.28% 390.03 mio e
occupancy rate total lettable area shop premises

334

 

Keyfigures

	 Retail	Estates	nv	limits	its	risks		
by	focused	specialization	and	its	
knowledge	of	retailing

“
”
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1.	Market	value	of	the	property

The value of the portfolio is assessed quarterly by an 

independent expert. A fall in value leads to a fall in the 

company’s equity and a raise in the value leads to a 

raise in the company’s equity.

The value of retail properties on the outskirts of towns 

is mainly determined by the commercial value of the 

property locations. As a result of the shortage of well-

located sites, the evolution of supply and demand is 

exerting upward pressure, both in the market for private 

investors and among institutional investors. Values are 

generally inflation-proof due to rent indexing, but are 

also interest-sensitive because of the high level of debt 

with which many investors work. 

Institutional investors’ willingness to invest can suffer 

sharp temporary falls owing to macro-economic factors 

influencing the availability and cost of credit. Experience 

shows that the private investor market, which continues 

to represent over 60% of investments, is less sensitive 

here.

2.		Developments	in	the	rental	
market

Various risks obviously arise in this area, not only in the 

field of vacant properties, but also as regards rentability, 

the quality of tenants, building ageing and the trend 

in supply and demand in the rental market. These are 

reflected in the first instance in the evolution of rental 

values. Of course, rental payment risks also exist 

despite precautions taken by management, which tries 

to do everything possible to review the creditworthiness 

and reliability of tenants in advance. Tenants’ 

creditworthiness can also undergo significant changes, 

however, during the course of the lease, without 

the lessor being able to terminate the relationship 

unilaterally, given that legislation on commercial lease 

agreements provides extensive longterm protection for 

tenants. In such cases even the customary 3 to 6 month 

bank guarantee is insufficient to cushion all risks. The 

legislation on commercial letting agreements provides 

lessees with extensive and long-term protection, and 

in the case of disputes is often interpreted flexibly by 

judges in favour of the lessee.

3.		Structural	state	of	the	buildings

Management does everything possible to anticipate 

these risks and, to this end, adopts a consistent policy 

on the major repairs that are the lessor’s responsibility. 

In practice, these are mainly limited to renovating car 

parks and roofs.

4.	Financial	risks

Duration of the loans

Financing is concluded on a long-term basis in the form 

of “bullet loans”, i.e. loans whose capital must be repaid 

in full after a period of 5 to 10 years. During the life of 

the loan, the Bevak pays only interest. The company has 

renewed its main long-term financing arrangements. 

In this way the average term of its credit agreements 

amounted to 5.63 years at 31 March 2009.

RISk mAnAgEmEnT

management tries to limit the risk factors to a minimum, but this does not eliminate the 
fact that careful account has to be taken of a number of risks:

334
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Use of financial instruments

The company is exposed to the risk of higher financial 

costs through changing interest rates. The company 

applies a conservative policy, which keeps this interest 

risk to a minimum.

For covering the interest rate risk on long-term loans 

negotiated on a floating rate basis, Retail Estates nv 

makes use of Interest Rate Swaps. The terms of these 

instruments are aligned with those of the underlying 

credits. If the Euribor interest rate (the interest rate 

for short-term loans) falls sharply, the market value 

of instruments undergoes a negative variation. This 

negative variation does not, however, impact the net 

profit of Retail Estates nv, given that this is effective 

hedging within the meaning of IAS 39. Cash flow hedge 

accounting is therefore applied to these swaps, based 

on which variations in the value of these swaps are 

taken directly into equity and do not appear in Retail 

Estates’ income statement.

In an interest rate swap, the floating interest rate 

is exchanged for a fixed interest rate. Interest on 

loans totalling EUR 156.22 million is covered by such 

agreements. Other credits in an amount of EUR 45.41 

million have been concluded with fixed interest rates 

for the entire term of the loan. Only EUR 12 million 

of credits have been entered into with floating and 

unhedged interest rates. Retail Estates’ average interest 

rate is 5.07%.

5.		Permits

The value of retail properties on the outskirts of towns 

is largely determined by the presence of all of the urban 

planning permits and licenses under legislation on 

retail permits for the intended purpose of the premises. 

Management pays the necessary attention to this issue 

when acquiring and developing stores. If a new retail 

activity has to be authorised for the premises due to 

external circumstances, modifications to previously 

granted licenses and permits must be applied for. 

Obtaining such changes is frequently a time-consuming 

and untransparent process, with the properties lying 

temporarily empty even though lessees have been found 

for them.

Management tries to limit the risks in such situations by 

maintaining realistic expectations of lease renewals.

6.		Modification	of	the	traffic		
infrastructure

By definition city periphery retail property is reached 

mainly by main roads, which are the responsibility of 

the regional governments. As a function of traffic safety 

these roads are regularly relaid with new roundabouts, 

bicycle lanes, etc. Such reconstruction work usually 

benefits the commercial value of our retail premises 

as the traffic flow is often slowed down and the 

surroundings of the shops are made safer. However, the 

possibility that the accessibility of some retail premises 

may consequently suffer in exceptional cases cannot be 

excluded.
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7.		Risks	linked	to	the	acquisition	
of	property	via	share	transac-
tions

A substantial portion of the property portfolio 

has been acquired by gaining control of property 

companies. These companies are then absorbed by 

Retail Estates nv, which in so doing takes over their 

complete assets and liabilities. Management takes the 

necessary precautions to identify possible risks prior to 

gaining control and to obtain the required contractual 

guarantees from the seller/contributor.

8.	Soil	remediation

At a number of locations where the company owns 

retail properties, potentially polluting activities were 

previously carried out.  For such – by definition 

historical – pollution, Retail Estates nv is in principle 

not responsible. The lessees’ activities in general imply 

only a limited risk of pollution, which therefore falls 

under the lessee’s responsibility. Currently applicable 

legislation in the three regions provides, however, 

for complex procedures, potentially leading to time-

consuming investigation and research costs upon 

transfer of real estate.
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HAbay-LA-NEUVE
49˚43’51.75”N - 5˚38’39.95”E

Habay-La -Neuve
Av. de la Gare 11/  

2 261m2/
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Letter to the shareholders

Retail Estates nv, a reference in peripherical 
Retail property
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  	 Our	long-term	objective	is	
to	ensure	constant	growth	and	
permanent	value	through	careful	
choices	of	location	and	the	quality		
of	our	tenants 

“

”
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We are pleased to present you with our report for the 

2008/2009 financial year, ending on 31 March 2009. 

More than half the financial year took place against the 

background of the severe storms which have ravaged 

the macro-economic environment.

Until now purchasing power and consumer confidence 

have, with a few local exceptions, remained relatively 

unscathed.

We have been spared the spectacular falls in sales 

seen in certain European countries. In the retail sector 

the soft discounters are playing their strengths more 

and more, starting with choice and good value for 

money, playing on the sensitivities of consumers who 

are unwilling to lower their standards of living but are 

spending more critically.

Our consistent choice for city periphery shopping with a 

strong discount image is bearing fruit.

During the past financial year the REIT achieved a 

current profit per share of EUR 3.13, the highest level 

ever in our past eleven financial years. High occupancy 

(calculated as a function of lettable surfaces) of 98.28% 

and a low average rent of EUR 80.91 per square metre 

are no guarantee for comparable results in the future, 

but offer strong growth potential. If guarantees for the 

future are to be found, these lie more in the know-how 

of our employees and in the defensive profile that Retail 

Estates nv has been seeking for many years as a long-

term investor.

In a generalized climate of falling values the value of our 

real estate portfolio has remained globally stable. The 

capital gains established by the property valuer can be 

ascribed in their near-entirety to the development of 

property for our own account, leading to the delivery of 

10 new retail properties during the past year.

The real estate segment in which Retail Estates nv 

operates remains very popular with private investors, 

who continue to represent the largest share of city 

periphery retail properties. The departure of a number 

of institutional investors of Anglo-Saxon origin has taken 

away a certain amount of upwards pressure and offers 

opportunities, a handful of which we have taken for our 

own account during the past financial year.

We cannot avoid the effects of financial market 

developments, and in particular the evolution of short-

term interest rates, on the net asset value of our shares. 

For many years it has been policy at Retail Estates nv to 

cover risks relating the evolution of short-term interest 

rates with interest rate swaps. The sharp fall in these 

interest rates is requiring us to recognise significant 

book losses in our balance sheet. These largely explain 

the negative development of our net asset value.

Three share issues in the context of individual 

transactions, referenced on the NAV of our shares 

and not the (lower) market price, prove that our long-

term strategy can also charm new shareholders, with 

transactions that reconcile the growth of our company 

with the interests of our shareholders.

Ternat, 29 May 2009 

Paul Borghgraef Jan De Nys

Chairman of the Board  Managing Director

of Directors

LETTER To ThE ShAREhoLdERS
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Kortrijk 
50˚34’54.69”N - 3˚48’13.56E

Kortrijk
Ringlaan 32/

5 322m2 /
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management report

334 shop premises, 98,28% occupancy rate, 
337 929 m2 lettable area
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”
“ The	company	has	invested	in	building		

up	city-periphery	shop	clusters	and		
developing	new	retail	properties 
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Strategy	–	investments	in		
peripheral	shopping	real	estate

Goal – investment in a representative portfolio 
of city periphery retail property

Retail Estates nv is a niche fixed-capital investment firm 

(sicafi/bevak) that invests directly in retail properties 

located on the periphery of residential areas or along 

access roads to urban centres.

Retail Estates nv buys these properties from third 

parties or builds and markets shop premises for its own 

account. The premises have a built-on surface area 

between 500m² and 3,000m². A typical retail property 

has an average surface area of 1,000m². 

The most important long-term goal for Retail Estates nv 

is to assemble and manage a portfolio of city periphery 

retail property which ensures lasting growth in the long 

term due to its choice of location and the quality of its 

tenants. The proposed growth covers both the value of 

the asset and the income generated from leasing.

Through further expansion of the scale of the property 

portfolio, it also intends to offer shareholders a 

representative sample of the city periphery retail 

property market, both through its choice of location and 

the diversification of the list of tenants.

In the short term these goals are being pursued by 

monitoring the occupancy level of the portfolio, the 

rental income and the maintenance and management 

costs.

The selective purchase and construction of shops are 

aimed at simplifying the management and boosting the 

value of the portfolio.

Shops in the portfolio which do not meet these 

objectives are earmarked for sale.

In past years, Retail Estates nv has concentrated on 

continuously strengthening the quality of its properties, 

partly through a good sector mix in its tenants’ retail 

activities.

Retail Estates nv rents in principle its properties in 

structural (i.e. shell) state, so that the furnishings, 

fittings and maintenance are arranged by the tenants. 

Retail Estates nv’s maintenance costs are essentially 

restricted to maintaining the car park and roof, and can 

be planned in advance.

Its tenants are mainly well-known retail chains such as 

Aldi, Blokker group, Brantano, Carpetright, E5-mode, 

JBC, Heytens, Krëfel, O’Cool, Shoe Discount,Delhaize, 

Fun, AS Adventure etc.

As at the end of March 2009, Retail Estates nv had 

334 premises in its portfolio. The retail lettable area 

amounted to 337,929m², while the occupancy rate 

measured in rented square meters was 98.28%.

A total of 2,000m² of retail floor space is under 

development, and will only be counted in the calculation 

of the occupancy level at provisional delivery of the 

buildings. This delivery is attended for October 2009.

mAnAgEmEnT REpoRT
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The fair value of the property portfolio of Retail Estates 

nv and its subsidiaries on 31 March 2009 is estimated 

by the independent property expert at EUR 390.03 

million at fair value (the value excluding transaction 

costs) and at EUR 400.84 million at investment value 

(the value including transaction costs). 

Retail Estates nv has invested a total of EUR 14.07 

million in ‘Distri-Land’ real estate certificates and 

currently holds 79.71 % of the ‘Distri-Land’ real estate 

certificates. These real estate certificates represent 17 

shops with a value of EUR 19.63 million.

Retail Estates nv has built up its shareholding both 

through a public exchange bid that was successfully 

concluded in December 2003 and through purchases 

on the stock market. Retail Estates nv views its 

shareholding in this real estate certificate as a strategic 

shareholding. It therefore records the value of these 

certificates as a real estate investment and recognises 

income from these certificates as rental income.

Given that Retail Estates nv does not hold shares 

in nv Immobilière Distri-Land (the issuer of these 

certificates), the company is not consolidated.

Investments in other real estate certificates are viewed 

as financial investments.

Acquisition criteria

Retail Estates nv is striving for an optimisation of its 

property portfolio both in terms of profitability and 

capital gains profile by paying attention to a number of 

criteria during the acquisition of property, including:

• Choice of location

Based on the insights that management has acquired 

into the profitability of its tenants, locations are 

selected which give Retail Estates nv tenants the best 

chances of success. The company seeks here a healthy 

balance between the supply of retail properties and 

demand from retailers.

• Rental level and initial profitability

Special attention is paid to the rental levels so that the 

profitability expectations of Retail Estates nv and its 

tenants can continue to be reconciled in the long term. 

Experience shows that the excessive rents charged by 

certain developers produce high levels of rotation when 

retailers’ sales do not rapidly come up to expectations.

• geographical distribution

Retail Estates nv spreads its investments over all of 

the important shopping centres throughout Belgium. 

In practice it hardly ever invests in the Brussels Region 

due to the extremely low offering of retail parks there; 

it concentrates its investments in Flanders and Wallonia 

and especially in sub-regions with strong purchasing 

power (mainly the Brussels – Ghent – Antwerp triangle 

and “green axis” of Brussels – Namur – Luxembourg).

• development of property for our own account

Retail Estates nv has significant experience in the 

development to order of new shops for its tenants. 

Experience shows that such developments supply 

architectural attractive retail premises and that a 
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higher initial income can be reached than on shops 

offered in the investment market.

• Sector - based spread of the list of tenants

Retail Estates nv seeks to have a maximum of different 

retail sectors on its list of tenants, with a preference 

for sectors which are known to have valuable retail 

trade branches. In a downward moving economic cycle 

not all retail sectors share in a possible fall in turnover 

to the same degree. A good distribution over various 

sectors limits the risks attached to negative economic 

developments.

Investing	via	Retail	Estates	nv

Retail Estates nv is a fixed-capital property investment 

company (REIT). A fixed-capital investment company is 

subject to a set of rules on spreading risks, distributing 

profits and debt management stipulated by Belgian 

Royal Decree(s). If the company respects these rules, 

it enjoys an exceptional tax regime which essentially 

means that it pays virtually no corporate tax on 

its earnings. The result available for distribution is 

therefore higher than for real estate companies that do 

not have this status. Retail Estates nv, as a fixed capital 

property investment company, holds additional trump 

cards, such as a strongly diversified property portfolio 

and is established for an indefinite period.

Investments in city periphery retail properties have 

become increasingly attractive over the years, 

owing to a stricter permit granting by government, 

a severely limited offering of high quality shop 

locations and the constantly high level of demand. 

The internationalization of the retail property market 

and the change from city centre to out-of-town 

activities have positively influenced the market for 

city periphery retail property. Combined with the 

growing institutionalization of the investment market 
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in city peripheral retail property, this evolution not only 

supports the rise in rents, but also the increase in the 

fair value of this property.

With the Retail Estates nv share, each shareholder has 

an investment instrument which can be traded freely 

and can be cashed in at any time via Euronext. 

Retail Estates nv shares are wholly in the hands of the 

public and of a number of institutional investors. 36.27% 

of the stock is held by institutional shareholders who, in 

accordance with the transparency legislation and Retail 

Estates nv’s articles of association, have reported that 

they have stakes exceeding the threshold of 3% under 

the articles of association and the 5% stipulated by law.

Through the Euronext price listings, which are 

published in the daily press and on the Euronext 

website, shareholders can follow the development 

of their investments at all times. The company also 

has a website (www.retailestates.com) with relevant 

shareholder information.

The net asset value of the share forms an important 

indication of its value. The net asset value (NAV) is 

calculated by dividing the consolidated shareholders’ 

equity by the number of shares.

The NAV, including the dividend of EUR 2.54, was  

EUR 41.16 on 31 March 2009. This is an decrease of 

5.81% compared to EUR 43.70 the previous year. 
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At 31 March 2009 the stock market price of the share 

was EUR 30.10, representing a discount of 26.87%. The 

fall in net asset value is due to the negative variation in 

the value of the financial instruments whereby interest 

risks on floating interest rate loans are hedged by fixed 

interest rates. 

 

Significant	events	of	the	financial	
year

1. Investments (EUR 70.36 million)

In the course of the financial year, 62 properties were 

acquired with a fair value of EUR 59.83 million, mainly 

by acquiring control of property companies as well as 

direct acquisitions by notarial deed. These properties 

represent gross rental income of EUR 3.95 million. All 

acquisitions have been based on the investment value 

as established by a professional real estate valuer.

In addition, 10 shops were built by Retail Estates nv as 

part of its development of property for own account. 

These properties represent a fair value of EUR 10.54 

million and provide gross rental income of EUR 0.88 

million.

They are located at Bruges (1), Genk (3), Habay-la-

Neuve (3) and Neupré (a suburb of Liège) (3).

2. Disposals (EUR 2.66 million)

Retail Estates nv has sold its 50% interest in CTM 

Invest.  This company owned two properties which 

are let to a fitness business at Antwerp (De Oudaan) 

and Waregem. On this EUR 0.86 million transaction, 

a capital gain of EUR 0.22 million on the investment 

value was achieved. 3 properties were also sold by 

notarial deed: an empty retail property at Rocourt, an 

SME property at Ekeren (belonging to Nithosa1 nv) and 

an apartment in Wavre (belonging to Leninvest nv) for 

an amount of EUR 0.76 million. In all three transactions 

the sales price was higher than the purchaser’s cost 

valuation by the real estate valuer.

Finally, as at 31 March 2009, private agreement were 

concluded which will lead, by 30 September 2009, to 

the sale of 5 retail properties at Borsbeek, Hasselt, 

Ottignies, Sint-Agatha-Berchem and Sint-Pauwels for a 

sales revenue of EUR 5.70 million. These transactions 

will represent a capital gain of EUR 0.06 million which 

will be established and recognised in the first half of 

the following financial year.

3. Investment in real estate certificates 

3.1.“distri-Land” real estate certificates

645 additional certificates were purchased during 

the past financial year. Retail Estates nv holds 

49,499certificates out of a total of 62,100 certificates 

that were issued by Immobilière Distri-Land nv 

(79.71 %). The investment in these real estate 

certificates is valued at EUR 14.07 million on 31 March 

2009. 

Retail Estates nv only approaches the stock market 

as a buyer insofar as the stock market price does not 

substantially exceed the net asset value assumed by 

Retail Estates nv, based mainly on the value of the 

underlying property. The net asset value amounted at 

31 March 2009 to EUR 284.32 per certificate.
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3.2.  “Wickes Tournai, mechelen,…” real estate 

certificates

‘Wickes Tournai, Mechelen,….’ real estate 

certificates are traded at regular Euronext auctions. 

Retail Estates nv, which right now holds 46,449 

certificates (or 98.93% of all issued certificates), wants 

the certificates to remain negotiable.

As of 2 January 2004, in the context of a public 

purchase offer, Retail Estates nv offered holders of 

real estate certificates that it does not already hold 

the opportunity to sell their retail estate certificates 

at a price of at least EUR 156 up to 30 November 

2009. During the past financial year, 148 additional 

certificates were acquired through the Euronext public 

auction, so that the number of real estate certificates 

held by Retail Estates nv on 31 March 2009 was 

46,499 certificates, i.e. 98.93% of all the issued real 

estate certificates. This means that there are still 501 

certificates (1.07%) in public hands.

Lessee Bricorama nv has, until 30 August 2009, a 

purchase option on the four retail properties that it 

leases, with a view to a possible purchase effective 30 

November 2009.

If it exercises this purchase option, this certificate will 

be liquidated. It is not, however, to be excluded that the 

leasing agreements will be extended.

3.3.“ distri-Invest” real estate certificates

All real estate certificates were sold in the course of 

the financial year after the issuing company had sold all 

its retail properties but one and had paid out the sales 

proceeds in the form of a liquidation coupon.

A capital gain of EUR 0.16 million was realized on these 

transactions in the past financial year 2008/2009.

4. Management of the property portfolio

4.1. occupancy rate

The occupancy rate of the Retail Estates nv portfolio is 

98.28%. The vacancies relate to 2,962m² of shopping 

premises and 2,849m² of SME properties and 

residential space.

Of course, the occupancy rate has to be viewed as an 

instantaneous snapshot, hiding a series of changes that 

occurred in the past financial year. It does not offer any 

guarantee for the future, given that the legislation on 

commercial leasing is imperative law and provides for a 

triennial termination option for all tenants.

Management is paying particular attention to the 

development of the occupancy and rental income 

from 5 retail premises in Messancy. As a result of the 

oversupply in the Arlon – Messancy region and the 

lower profitability of the tenants’ retail operations in 

this region, pressure on the rental price exists and 

there is an increased risk of premises remaining 

vacant. In the very near future a request will be 

submitted for a permit to restructure this retail park 

and to adapt it to the agreement concluded with the 

new lessees.
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4.2. Rental income

In the past financial year just one smaller tenant, 

being ABS sa declared insolvency. Retail Estates nv 

hardly suffered any loss as a result (the claim on the 

bankruptcy estate amounts to EUR 8.941). This lessee’s 

business was transferred to a new operator. 

An additional provision of EUR 0.12 million has been 

established for the unpaid rent and rental expenses. 

This represents 0.46% of the total rental income.

4.3. Claims

In the course of the financial year one shop property 

at Herstal was seriously damaged by the fire that 

destroyed an adjacent Retail premise. The damage 

was covered by insurance and no financial loss was 

incurred.

After completing the necessary repairs, the property 

was leased to AVA Papierwaren, replacing Brantano, 

which had moved to another location.

A building permit has been obtained for rebuilding 

the Retail property at Froyennes that was destroyed 

by fire in February 2008. Rebuilding is expected to be 

complete by 30 September 2009. The occasion was 

used to enlarge the property (1,486 m² instead of 

1,000 m²) and to rebuild it in a more modern format.

5.  Decisions by the Extraordinary General 
Meetings of 30 June 2008, 29 Augustus 
2008, 5 September 2008 and 31 March 2009

On 30 June 2008 the Extraordinary General Meeting 

approved the contribution of a large-scale retail 

property at Merksem in the framework of the partial 

split of Zebra Trading nv.

This property represents rental income of 

EUR 0.254 million, a fair value of EUR 3.54 million 

and an investment value of EUR 3.63 million. This 

contribution was remunerated through the issue of 

83,632 shares at an issue price of EUR 41.85 per share. 

These new shares participate in the profit of Retail 

Estates nv from 1 April 2008. Through this transaction 

capital was increased by EUR 84,106,961.29, 

represented by 3,821,631 shares.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 29 August 

2008 approved the merger by takeover of subsidiaries 

Retail Warehousing bis bvba (effective 31 December 

2008), Afrit 5 nv and LC Invest nv (both effective 31 

August 2008). The total assets and liabilities of these 

companies have been transferred to Retail Estates nv. 

No new shares were created in this transaction.

On 5 September 2008 the Board of Directors decided, 

in the framework of the authorised capital, to approve 

the contribution of the undivided half of a plot of land 

at Montignies-sur-Sambre on which a retail property 

was erected in the framework of a building right 

that expires on 1 July 2009. This had the effect of 
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increasing capital by EUR 86,523,056.52, represented 

by 3,845,381 shares. These new shares participate in 

the profit of Retail Estates nv from 1 April 2008.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 31 March 

2009 approved the merger by takeover of Kairo nv, 

Leninvest nv, Sinac nv and Gérardchamps Invest nv. 

The total assets and liabilities of these companies have 

been transferred to Retail Estates nv. No new shares 

were created in this transaction. During this meeting 

it was also resolved to adapt the company’s articles of 

association to the rules governing the purchase of own 

shares. In this way the Board of Directors is authorised, 

during a period of 5 years, to purchase its own shares 

at a price per share not lower than 85% of the closing 

stock market price of the day prior to the transaction 

and not higher than 115% of the closing stock market 

price of the day before the transaction date, with the 

company not being allowed to hold more than 20% of 

the total number of issued shares.

6. Post balance sheet events

On 30 April 2009 a capital increase was carried out in 

the framework of the authorised capital in an amount 

of EUR 10 million. 250,000 shares were issued at EUR 

40 per share (compared with a stock market price of 

EUR 33.95 on the same date). These were subscribed 

by a private investor through the contribution of 60% of 

the shares of real estate company Solido nv.

Subsequently Retail Estates nv purchased 15% of the 

shares of this company for EUR 2.525 million in cash.

Retail Estates nv has a purchase option on the 

remaining 25% of the shares of the real estate company 

at a price of EUR 4.17 million. The valuation of the 

shares in this transaction was based on the investment 

value as determined by real estate experts Cushman 

& Wakefield. The shares share in earnings from 1 April 

2009, being the start of the current financial year. This 

brings the number of issued shares to 4,095,381.

Through transactions undertaken after balance sheet 

date the real estate portfolio has been extended by 

sixty shops, generating an annual rental income of EUR 

2.64 million. Based on the investment value of these 

properties – valued by Cushman & Wakefield at EUR 

34.6 million – this income represents a gross return of 

7.63%.

These properties are all situated in Wallonia, with a 

strong concentration in the province of Liège. The 

retail park at Barchon (suburb of Liège) is the largest 

investment with 21 shops. The biggest lessees in 

this retail park are Delhaize, Lidl, Pointcaré and Mr 

Bricolage. Other retail properties are located at Liège 

and Jemeppes-sur-Sambre, where they complete the 

existing clusters of access road shops belonging to 

Retail Estates nv.

This transaction has increased the investment value 

of the Retail Estates nv property portfolio, which 

according to its real estate experts had an investment 

value of around EUR 400.84 million at 31 March 2009 - 

to EUR 435.44 million.
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Comments	on	the	consolidated	
financial	state	ments	for	the	
2008	/	2009	financial	year

Balance sheet

Investment properties have increased from EUR 

319.66 million to EUR 383.65 million. This is explained 

primarily by the extension of the portfolio by EUR 

70.36 million and the sales of properties worth EUR 

2.41 million. At the same time EUR 6.39 million of 

investment properties were transferred to assets held 

for sale (these are assets for which the preliminary 

sales contract has been signed but have not yet been 

enacted). There was also a small increase in the value 

of the portfolio of project developments.

The project developments are developments for own 

account. During the financial year projects for an 

amount of EUR 10.54 million (fair value) were delivered 

in Bruges, Genk, Habay-la-Neuve and Neupré (suburb 

of Liège). In the pipeline for the next financial year are 

some 5 projects in which a total of EUR 5.35 million is 

being invested.

Current assets amount to EUR 8.63 million. EUR 6.39 

million of this amount consists of assets held for sale, 

EUR 0.55 million of trade receivables; EUR 0.88 million 

of tax receivables and other current assets, EUR 0.58 

million of cash and cash equivalents and EUR 0.23 

million of deferred charges and accrued income.

The Bevak’s shareholders’ equity amounts to EUR 

158.29 million. Capital amounts to EUR 86.52 million. 

The increase of EUR 2.42 million compared with 

last year reflects two capital increases following 

the contribution of two properties. 107,832 new 

shares were created. For the same reasons the share 

premiums have increased from EUR 7.96 million to 

EUR 10.04 million. Reserves of EUR 66.45 million 

consist essentially of unrealized capital gains from 

the valuation of the investment portfolio at fair value. 

The result carried forward amounted at 31 March 

2009 to EUR 19.87 million. Shareholders’ equity was 

reduced by the impact on fair value of estimated 

transaction rights and costs on the hypothetic disposal 

of investment properties (EUR - 10.81 million) and 

by variations in the fair value of financial assets and 

liabilities (EUR - 13.82 million). The group uses financial 

derivatives (interest rate swaps) to hedge against 

interest rate risks from operational, financial and 

investment activities. Financial derivatives are initially 

recognised at cost and are revalued to fair value at 

subsequent reporting dates. The negative valuation 

of the financial instruments has no impact on the net 

result of Retail Estates nv. The Bevak classifies the 

interest swaps as cash flow hedging, on the basis that 

these are effective hedges, that is that the amounts 

and maturity dates match those of the underlying loan 

agreements. Cash flow accounting is therefore applied 

to these swaps, based on which the valuation changes 

in these swaps are recognised directly in equity and are 

not taken through the income statement. The negative 

value of these instruments is due to the sharp fall in 

short-term interest rates at the end of 2008 under the 

impetus of the US and European central banks. The fact 

that the interest rate hedging took place at the long-

term interest rate applicable at the beginning of 2008 
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means that Retail Estates nv will suffer losses on these 

transactions as long as the short-term interest rate 

remains at this low level. Retail Estates nv nonetheless 

believes it important to undertake such hedging, 

given that it does not want to take any risk on floating 

interest rates on real estate investments, income from 

which by definition is not variable.

The negative valuation of the financial instruments 

naturally impacts the net asset value per share. The net 

asset value (fair value) amounts to EUR 41.16 compared 

with EUR 43.70 last year. Without the impact of the 

financial instruments the net asset value is EUR 44.70.

Non-current liabilities amount to EUR 227.30 million. 

EUR 213.12 million of this amount consists of non-

current financial debts with an average term of 5.63 

years. The remaining non-current liabilities relate to the 

financial instruments.

Current liabilities amount to EUR 12.94 million, of which 

EUR 10.30 million of trade payables and other current 

debts. These include an estimated EUR 6.15 million of 

exit tax and invoices receivable of EUR 2.10 million. 

Current financial debts amount to EUR 0.50 million.

At 31 March 2009 the average interest rate was 5.07%.

Income statement

Net rental income has risen by EUR 4.40 million, 

explained primarily by the acquisition of additional 

properties during the 2008/2009 financial year (+ EUR 

2.83 million) and the acquisition of properties in the 

previous financial year, which delivered rental income 

for the first time in 2008/2009 (+ EUR 2.30 million). 

The sale of the Luxembourg real estate company Retail 

Park Sandweiler sa during the past financial year has 

produced a EUR 0.74 million fall in rental income.
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Property charges amount to EUR 1.71 million. The 

increase of EUR 0.19 million is explained in particular 

by the EUR 0.08 million rise in technical costs and the 

EUR 0.11 million rise in property management costs. 

The technical costs are for maintaining roofs and 

parking lots. These have increased with the extension 

of the portfolio.

Management costs have risen owing to the increase in 

operating costs, in turn due to the extension of the real 

estate team and the rising travel costs attendant on the 

expansion of the portfolio.

Corporate operating costs amount to EUR 1.83 million, 

up EUR 0.21 million on 2007/2008, explained primarily 

by a EUR 0.03 million rise in recurrent remuneration 

and operating costs, which have risen owing to the 

acquisition policy.

The result on disposals of investment property amounts 

to EUR 0.13 million, consisting mainly of the profit of the 

sale on the shareholding in subsidiary CTM Invest nv.

The positive variation in the fair value on investment 

property is due entirely to the value creation from 

the proprietary development of investment property 

(properties at Bruges, Genk, Habay-la-Neuve and 

Neupré).

The financial result was EUR - 9.72 million compared 

with EUR - 7.27 million the year before. Interest costs 

were higher than in 2007-2008 owing to additional 

loans taken up to finance the further expansion of the 

portfolio.

The income statement contains a number of non-

recurrent items, in particular the income from the 

liquidation coupon of the Distri-Invest certificate 
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(recorded under financial income) in an amount of EUR 

0.16 million and the reversal of a provision for exit tax 

in an amount of EUR 0.13 million (recorded under taxes) 

following a number of mergers.

Prospects

The macro-economic uncertainties prevent us from 

making predictions as to the development of the fair 

value of the real estate properties or of the negative 

value of the interest rate hedging instruments.

The evolution of the net asset value per share, which 

is sensitive to these, is therefore uncertain. The sales 

prices that Retail Estates nv has obtained on the sale of 

investment properties show, however, that the market 

is right now supporting the value of city periphery 

shopping properties, mainly through the high degree of 

activity of wealthy individuals.

Barring a sudden and accelerated fall in consumer 

expenditure, which would burden our lessees with 

profitability problems, and with a limited but positive 

evolution of rental prices via indexation and rent 

revisions, it is expected that Retail Estates nv will be 

able to achieve in financial year 2009/2010 a current 

earnings per share comparable with the current 

earnings per share achieved in the 2008/2009 

financial year. 

The low pay-out ratio makes it possible, also in these 

circumstances, to enable the dividend to grow at least 

in line with inflation. Retail Estates nv is aiming at a 

dividend of EUR 2.62 gross for the 2009/2010 financial 

year.
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Appropriation of the result

The Board of Directors proposes to allocate the 

profit for the year, as shown in the statutory financial 

statements, as follows: 

 

EuR

Result of the year 11,253,000

Transfer of result on portfolio and 

participating interests to available reserves 

(portfolio result)

-686,000

Profit to be appropriated for the financial 

year: 
10,567,000

Profit carried forward from the previous 

financial year (IFrs): 
6,785,000

Increase in profit carried forward due to 

fusion by absorption of

- Afrit NV 700,000

- LC invest NV 421,000

- Retail Warehousing bis BVBA 192,000

- Sinac NV 49,000

- Kairo NV 72,000

- Leninvest NV 98,000

- Gerardchamps Invest NV 116,000

Costs related to capital increase: -78,000

Payment of dividend on 31 March 2009 -9,767,000

Result to be carried forward: 9,155,000

The Board of Directors’ proposal to the general meeting 

of shareholders concerning the appropriation of the 

result for the financial year closing on 31 March 2009 

is that the profit for the elapsed financial year to be 

appropriated of EUR 9.77 million will be paid out as 

a gross dividend (before withholding tax). A gross 

dividend of EUR 2.54 per share will therefore be paid 

out, which produces a net dividend after withholding 

tax of EUR 2.16.

The dividends are payable with effect from 7 July 2009 

on presentation of coupon number 14. The proposed 

dividend is in accordance with Article 7 of the Belgian 

Royal Decree on public fixed-capital investment 

companies of 21 June 2006 (RD amending the RD of 10 

April 1995 relating to property fixed-capital investment 

companies). The pay-out ratio is 80.17%.

Miscelaneous items

1. Research and development

The company has not developed activities nor incurred 

expenditure in the area of research and development.

2. Branch offices

The company has no branch offices.
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Corporate governance

Extensive expertise serving the company
Corporate governance contributes to  
Retail Estates’ defensive profile
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”
“Corporate	governance	draagt	

bij	tot	het	defensief	profiel	van	
Retail	Estates	nv 



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 31 -

1 . Introduction

Retail Estates nv selected the legal form of a public 

limited company from the outset, because this 

provides the best guarantees for equal treatment 

of all shareholders. Retail Estates nv has also built 

up its own management team which undertakes the 

complete management, including real estate and 

financial management. This guarantees management 

continuity and ensures that the available know-how will 

be kept within the company. It goes without saying that 

the Bevak is managed in the exclusive interest of its 

shareholders. The profitable project development for 

own account is a good example of this.

Retail Estates nv pays particular attention to Corporate 

Governance. Since 2005 the rules of behaviour 

contained in the Corporate Governance Code (hereafter 

‘the Code’), have been the subject of a separate chapter 

in the company’s annual report, as required by appendix 

F of the Code.

The Corporate Governance Charter (internal operation 

and organization of the Board of Directors) can be found 

on the website www.retailestates.com. This Charter 

is supplemented by the Protocol for the prevention of 

insider trading and is in line with the European Directive 

and the Belgian Royal Decree of 5 March 2006 on 

Insider Trading, which came into operation on 10 May 

2006.

2. Management of the company

2.1. Board of directors Composition

Composition

The Board of Directors of Retail Estates nv consists of 8 

directors: the chairman, 6 non-executive directors and 

1 executive director, the managing director.

Of the 8 directors, 3 directors qualify as independent, 

which satisfies the conditions of section 524 §4 and 

section 526 of the Belgian Companies Code and the 

independence criteria stated in Appendix A of the Code 

(version 2004).

The independent Directors strictly comply with the 

following independence criteria:

•  not to be an employee, member of the managerial 

personnel, member of the Executive Committee, 

responsible for the day-to-day management, 

executive Director or member of the executive 

personnel of Retail Estates nv, or of a connected 

company, and not having occupied a similar position 

during the 5 years preceding their appointment;

•  not to receive or have received from Retail Estates 

nv, or a connected company any remuneration or any 

other significant financial benefit other than those 

associated with their mandate;

•  not to be a dominant shareholder or have a 

shareholding of more than 10% in Retail Estates nv 

–either alone or jointly with a company controlled 

CoRpoRATE govERnAnCE
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by the Director– or be a Director or member of 

the managerial personnel of such a shareholder 

or represent it. Directors with a shareholding of 

less than 10% may not subject the acts of disposal 

relating to these shares or the exercise of the 

rights relating to them to contractual stipulations 

or to unilateral commitments to which they 

have subscribed. Directors may not under any 

circumstances represent such a shareholder;

•  not to have or have had during the preceding year, 

and not to be likely to have a significant commercial 

relationship with Retail Estates nv or a connected 

company, either directly or as a partner, shareholder, 

Director, senior executive or member of the 

management personnel for an organisation that has 

a relationship of this type;

•  not to be, and not to have been during the past 3 

years, a partner or employee of the present or a 

former Auditor of Retail Estates nv or a connected 

company;

•  not to be an executive member of the management 

body of another company in which an executive 

Director of the company sits as non-executive 

member of the management or supervisory body, 

and not to have other significant links with the 

Retail Estates nv executive Directors by virtue of an 

involvement in other companies or bodies;

•  not to have carried out more than 3 terms of office 

as non-executive Director within Retail Estates nv, 

without it being possible for this period to exceed 12 

years;
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•  not to be a close relative of a managerial employee, a 

member of the Executive Committee or a person who 

is covered by one of the situations described above.

The composition of the Board of Directors should 

guarantee that the decisions taken are in the interests 

of the company.

In particular, members are elected who possess 

relevant knowledge of the retail trade, property 

investment and funding, plus the management of listed 

companies in general and fixed-capital investment 

companies in particular. It is therefore important 

for the members of the Board of Directors be 

complementary in terms of knowledge and experience. 

To enable the Board of Directors to operate efficiently, 

the intention is to restrict the number of Board 

members to a maximum of 10.

The reference shareholders are represented by Messrs. 

Borghgraef and De Peuter on behalf of the KBC Bank 

and Mr Tinant on behalf of the Arco group.

Only Mr Jan De Nys has declared that he holds shares 

in the company for his personal account.

A brief overview of the composition of the Board of 

Directors of Retail Estates nv:

Chairman

paul Borghgraef (°1954): Chairman of the Board of 

Directors, member of the Remuneration

committee

office address: Rozenlaan 24 – 2970 Schilde

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009(1): 36.000 EUR

most important other positions: Director KBC Group nv 

and Centea nv

Committees: chairman of the Remuneration and 

Appointments committee

Attendance  (2)(4/1)

uitvoerend Bestuurder

Jan de nys (°1959): Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

office address: Retail Estates nv – Industrielaan 6 – 

1740 Ternat

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: The cost of the CEO’s 

remuneration packet amounted in the 2008/2009 

financial year to EUR 200,000, consisting of a fixed 

portion of EUR 161,428 and a variable portion of EUR 

30,000, paid in 2008 for performance in the previous 

financial year, and EUR 8,572 of costs of company car 

and mobile phone. 

most important other positions: Director of Mitiska 

nv and Paestum nv/Orelio nv (Maes Construction and 

Property Group)

Committees: -

Attendance (2): (4/-)

(1) Fixed annual remuneration
(2) Number of attendances in 2008/2009 (Board of Directors / Renumeration and Appointments committee)
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non –exective directors(3)

Jean-Louis Appelmans (°1953): Independent Director, 

member of the Remuneration committee

office address: Leasinvest Real Estate Comm.V.A. – 

Schermersstraat 42 – 2000 Antwerp

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 12.000 EUR

most important other positions: Delegated director 

from Leasinvest Real Estate Comm.V.A.,

Leasinvest Immo Lux sa

Committees: member of the Remuneration committee

Attendance (2) (4/1)

hubert de peuter (°1959): Director

office address: KBC Real Estate nv – Havenlaan 16 – 

1080 Brussel

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 10.500 EUR

Committees: -

Attendance (2): (3/-)

Luc geuten (°1943): Director

office address: Mitiska nv – Pontbeekstraat 2 – 1702 

Groot-Bijgaarden

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 13.500 EUR

most important other positions: Managing director of 

Mitiska nv

Committees: -

Attendance (2) (4/-)

yvan Lippens (°1960): Independent director, member 

of the Remuneration committee

office address: Frost Invest nv– Baarleveldestraat 8 - 

9031 Drongen

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 12.000 EUR

most important other positions: Managing Director 

Frost Invest nv (O’Cool)

Committees: member of the Remuneration committee

Attendance (2): (4/1)

victor Ragoen (°1955): Independent director, member 

of the Remuneration committee

office address: New Vanden Borre nv – 

Huysmanslaan 107 – 1651 Lot

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 10.500 EUR

most important other positions: Managing Director 

New Vanden Borre nv

Committees: member of the Remuneration committee

Attendance (2) (3/1)

marc Tinant (°1954): Director

office address: Arcofin – Livingstonelaan 6 – 1000 

Brussel

End of mandate: 2009

Remuneration 2008-2009: 16.350 EUR

most important other positions: Director and member 

of Group Management Committee of Arco, member of the 

Board of Directors and the Audit committee of Dexia sa

Committees: -

Attendance (2): (4/-)

Reappointment of directors as proposed to the annual 

meeting on 29 June 2009

All mandates of the present directors expire at the 

annual meeting of 29 June 2009. It is proposed to the 

shareholders on the occasion of the annual meeting to 

renew the mandates of the present directors for six-

2 Number of attendances in 2008/2009 (Board of Directors / Renumeration and Appointments committee)
3  For non-executive directors: a fixed annual remuneration of EUR 6,000 plus an attendance fee of EUR 1,500 for each Board of Directors or board committee 

meeting attended. 
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year terms, ending at the annual meeting of 2015.

It is proposed that the following directors be appointed 

as independent directors: Mr Jean-Louis Appelmans, Mr 

Marc Tinant, Mr Victor Ragoen and Mr Yvan Lippens. 

All persons involved have declared that they fulfil at the 

present time the criteria of independence as described 

above. With his accounting expertise, Mr Marc Tinant 

also fulfils the bookkeeping and audit conditions set 

in article 526 bis, §2 of the Companies’ Code for the 

functioning of an audit committee.

If during the course of their mandates one or more 

directors who have been proposed for appointment as 

independent directors lose this capacity by no longer 

meeting one or more independence requirements, 

this will be published by Retail Estates nv as fast as 

possible.

operation of the Board of directors

The Retail Estates nv Board of Directors determines 

the strategy, investments, budgets, disposals and 

acquisitions as well as the funding.

The Board of Directors prepares the annual and interim 

financial statements and the annual report of the 

property investment company Retail Estates nv for the 

General Meeting of Shareholders. It approves merger 

and split reports, decides on the use of the authorised 

capital and convenes the ordinary and extraordinary 

general meetings of shareholders. It supervises 

the accuracy and transparency of communications 

to shareholders, financial analysts and public as 

communicated through prospectuses, annual and 

interim reports and press releases. It delegates day-to-

day management to the managing director who reports 

to it regularly on the management and the annual 

budget and who presents a quarterly financial and 

operational report.

The Board of Directors meets at least four times a year 

and whenever demanded by a particular or exceptional 

matter. The Board of Directors met four times during 

2008/2009. 

The Board of Directors may validly deliberate only if 

at least half its members are present or represented. 

In the event that this condition has not been complied 

with, a new meeting can be convened that will validly 

deliberate and decide on the points on the agenda of 

the previous meeting under the condition that at least 

two directors are present or represented.

There are no special rules in the articles of association 

concerning decision-making by the Board of Directors.

In addition to its legal mandate, the board will also 

take the necessary care to determine strategy and to 

outline policy lines, while always taking account of the 

company’s interests. In particular, it also makes all 

fundamental decisions concerning the investments in 

and disposals of properties as well as their funding.

A clear distinction is made between the responsibilities 

of the managing director and those of the chairman of 

the Board. The chairman chairs the Board of Directors 

and ensures that agendas of Board of Directors 

meetings are prepared and that directors receive the 

relevant information promptly. 
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The managing director is in charge of the executive 

management of the company. The Board of Directors will 

make sure that sufficient powers are given to ensure that 

these responsibilities and duties are met.

The CEO and the Chairman of the Board of Directors are 

jointly indicated by the Board of Directors as being the 

effective senior managers of the Bevak on the basis of 

article 38 of the Law of 20 July 2004.

Report on the Board of directors’ activities

The Board of Directors took the following decisions, 

among others, during the financial year:

•  approval of the annual budget and regular update 

thereof;

•  sale of three properties and the participation in CTM 

Invest nv;

•  the extension of the portfolio with 62 shops through ac-

quiring control over Immo Bartan nv, Belgium Retail 1 nv,  

Keerdok Invest nv, Gérardchamps Invest nv en Fins-

bury Properties nv;

•  the financing of the above-named acquisitions;

•  merging into the company of Afrit 5 nv, Gérardchamps 

Invest nv, Kairo nv, LC Invest nv, Leninvest nv Retail 

Warehousing bis bvba and Sinac nv.

Specialised committees

Various committees can be established within the Board 

of Directors for specific matters.

Retail Estates nv has currently set up a remuneration 

and appointments committee, consisting of the 3 

independent directors and the chairman of the Board. 

This committee met once in 2008/2009 on 23 January 

2009 when the staff remuneration strategy was 

discussed and the fees paid to external service providers 

were listed during preparation of the 2009-2010 

budgets. No changes in the Board of Directors were 

proposed during the past financial year.
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The provisions of the Law of 17 December 2008 (BS 

29.12.08) have introduced the requirement for listed 

companies to set up audit committees.

Retail Estates nv, however, fulfils the exemption 

conditions provided for in this law, whereby the tasks 

assigned to the audit committee are undertaken by the 

Board of Directors as a whole.

The tasks of this audit committee consist mainly 

of monitoring the financial reporting process, the 

appropriateness of the internal control and risk 

management systems, monitoring the internal audit and 

the statutory audit of unconsolidated and consolidated 

annual financial statements and monitoring the 

independence of the statutory auditor.

Representative powers

The company will be represented by at least 2 directors 

acting together in all legal and statutory transactions 

concerning disposal of property (as defined in section 

2:4°of the Belgian Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 on 

fixed capital property investment companies) being 

the chairman of the Board Paul Borghgraef and the 

managing director Jan De Nys.

Remuneration of the directors

At the annual meeting of 30 June 2008 shareholders 

approved the proposal to pay, starting in the financial 

year beginning on 1 April 2008, a fixed annual remunera-

tion of EUR 6,000 per director. This amount is increased 

by an attendance fee of EUR 1,500 per meeting of the 

Board of Directors or of one of its committees.

No changes were made to the chairman’s remuneration, 

which remains at EUR 36,000 per year.

2.2. day-to-day management – executive management

The company is managed by a team of 9 employees 

under the leadership of the managing director (CEO)  

Mr Jan De Nys.

2.3. Conflict of interests regulation

In compliance with Article 523 of the Company Code, 

any members of the Board of Directors who, whether 

directly or indirectly, have a financial interest which 

conflicts with a decision or operation involving the 

Board of Directors, may not attend the proceedings of 

this Board.

Seen the absence of any conflict of interest, the Board 

of Directors did not draw up any report for the year 

2008/2009, in application of Articles 523 and 524 of 

the Company Code.

Reference is also made to Article 24 of the Royal Decree 

of 10.04.1995 where one of the persons referred to 

in this Article (Director, administrator, depository or 

promoter of the Rest, ...) acts as counterparty in an 

operation undertaken with the Rest or a company 

controlled by it. No conflicts of interest arose from the 

application of this article.

If a director has a direct or indirect patrimonial interest 

that conflicts with a decision or transaction within the 

competence of the Board of Directors, the director 

concerned cannot participate in the deliberations, 
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unless these relate to Board of Directors’ decisions that 

fulfil market compliant conditions.

3. Other parties involved

Certification of the accounts

An Auditor appointed by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders must:

• certify the annual accounts and review the half-yearly 

accounts, as for any limited liability company;

• prepare special reports at the request of the Banking, 

Finance and Insurance Commission, given that Retail 

Estates nv is, as a property sicafi/bevak, a stock 

market listed undertaking for collective investment.

The Auditor is Deloitte Company Auditors, represented 

by Mr Rik Neckebroeck, certified by the Banking, 

Finance and Insurance Commission, with registered 

office at 1050 Brussels, Avenue Louise 240.

The fixed remuneration of the Auditor for reviewing and 

certifying Retail Estates’ company and consolidated 

accounts amounted to EUR 0.065 million (excluding 

VAT). The remuneration of Deloitte, Company Auditors 

for certifying the company accounts of Retail Estates’ 

subsidiaries, as well as for the tasks assigned to the 

Auditor by law (reports on the occasion of mergers, for 

example), amounted to EUR 0.067 million (excluding 

VAT). The fees of Deloitte relating to studies and 

assistance, notably on taxation matters and due 

diligence assignments, came to EUR 0.012 million 

during the year (excluding VAT), and mainly concern 

verifying the economic and financial data relative to 

acquisitions within the meaning of Article 133 § 7 of 

the Company Code.

The Statutory Auditor’s mandate expires at the General 

Meeting to be held on 29 June 2009. The Board 

proposes extending its mandate for a three-year term.

depository bank

The KBC Bank has been designated as the depository 

bank of Retail Estates nv, within the meaning of Articles 

12 ff of the Royal Decree of 10.04.1995 on property 

investment firms.

Real estate expert

In accordance with the Belgian Royal Decree of 10 

April 1995, Retail Estates nv hires experts for regular 

valuations of its assets, each time it issues shares, 

takes a listing on the stock market or purchases 

unlisted shares, or if it buys or sells properties. 

These valuations are necessary to determine the 

inventory value and to prepare the annual accounts. 

The valuation assignments are entrusted quarterly 

to Cushman & Wakefield (Kunstlaan 58, box 7, 1000 

Brussels), represented by Mr Koen Nevens and to CB 

Richard Ellis (Avenue Lloyd George 7, 1000 Brussels), 

represented by Mr Peter de Groot.

During the past financial year, a fee of EUR 0.30 

million (inc. VAT) was payable for regular valuations 

of 274 investment properties and initial valuations for 

the purchase of property. A fee of EUR 0.17 million 

(inc. VAT) was payable for regular valuations of 62 
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investment properties and initial valuations for the 

purchase of property.

The property of Immobilère Distri-Land nv is valued on 

the basis of a joint instruction from Retail Estates nv 

and Immobilière Distri-Land nv and announced by the 

latter. The costs are shared 50/50 between Retail 

Estates nv and Immobilière Distri-Land nv.

4.  Corporate governance code (version 2004)– 
comply or explain

Retail Estates nv tries to comply with the provisions 

of the Code insofar as possible. However, there are 

deviations in a number of areas:

deviations from principle 2:

Point 2.1. In view of the company’s activities and 

particularly the fact that negotiating and closing 

specific contracts are part of day to-day management 

and the CEO’s powers, without the intervention of 

the Board of Directors being required in principle, the 

following transactions between the company and its 

non-executive directors could possibly fall under the 

conflict of interests regulation (‘significant commercial 

links’): 

- rental agreements concerning premises with retail 

companies to which a non-executive director is 

connected;

Point 2.3. There are significant commercial links with 

Frost Invest nv (11 stores), New Vanden Borre nv (8 

stores) and Fun nv (Mitiska nv 5 stores), where  

Mr Yvan Lippens, Mr Vic Ragoen and Mr Luc Geuten 

are the respective director or managing directors. The 

premises leased by these companies, however, are 

usually the objects of longterm rental agreements that 

were often concluded with external promoters prior 

to their acquisition by Retail Estates nv. The Board of 

Directors particularly values the presence of these 

directors of rapidly expanding companies.

Their experience of changing market conditions and 

the development potential of various locations offers 

considerable added value for Retail Estates nv when 

making investment decisions.

The commercial lease legislation, which is mainly 

coercive law, provides an adequate frame of reference 

for solving day to-day problems that arise in relation to 

these companies as tenants.

In fact Retail Estates nv also lets a considerable 

number of premises to competitors of Frost Invest nv 

and New Vanden Borre nv.

2.6. The Board of Directors has not appointed a 

company secretary yet.

deviation from principle 4:

4.6. The proposed length of the director’s mandate which 

may not exceed 4 years is viewed as too short given 

the complexity of the type of property in which Retail 

Estates nv specialises. As a result, mandates all run for 6 

years.
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deviation from principle 5:

The responsibilities of the audit committee are assumed 

by the entire Board of Directors.

No separate audit committee has been set up.

This concords with the legal provisions concerning the 

functioning of an audit committee.

5.  Acquisition & sale of shares Retail Estates nv 
– insider trading

In accordance with the principles and values of the 

company, Retail Estates nv has inserted in its Code 

of Conduct the rules (Dealing Code) to be followed by 

Directors and designated persons wishing to negotiate 

financial instruments issued by Retail Estates nv.

With respect to the implementation of the Belgian 

Corporate Governance Code within Retail Estates nv, 

the rules of the Code of Conduct has been reviewed 

in order to bring them into line with the Royal Decree 

of 05.03.2006 relating to insider trading, the fair 

presentation of investment recommendations and 

indication of conflicts of interest.

The responsibilities of the audit committee are assumed 

by the entire Board of Directors. No separate audit 

committee has been set up. This concords with the 

legal provisions concerning the operation of an audit 

committee.

6.  Information based on Article 34 of the 
Royal Decree of 14.11.2007 concerning 
the obligations of issuers of financial 
instruments authorised to trade on an 
official market

Capital structure (at the closing date of this Annual 

Report)

The share capital stands at EUR 86,523,056.72 and 

is divided into 3,845,381 fully paid-up shares, each of 

which representing an equal share. There is only one 

category of shares.

There is no legal or statutory limitation of the voting 

rights or transferability of the shares.

Share option plan

Retail Estates nv has not established a share option 

plan.

Authorised capital

The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to 

increase the share capital in one or more tranches up 

to a maximum amount of EUR 80,293,315 on the dates 

and according to the procedures to be decided by the 

Board of Directors, in accordance with Article 603 of 

the Company Code.
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This authorisation is granted for a period of 5 years 

starting from 1 September 2005. In the course of the 

2008/2009 financial year, a transaction was carried 

out involving the application of the authorised capital in 

an amount of EUR 0.53 million. On 31 March 2009 the 

remaining amount of the authorised capital amounted to 

EUR 79,759,513.

Repurchase of shares

The company did not acquire any of the company’s own 

shares. The Extraordinary General Meeting of 31 March 

2009 has amended the Articles of Association so as to 

authorise the Board of Directors, for a period expiring 

on 31 March 2014, to acquire shares in Retail Estates nv 

under a number of special conditions listed in the 

Articles of Association.

decision-making bodies

The rules which apply at the appointment or 

replacement of members of the Board of Directors 

and at an amendment of the articles of association of 

Retail Estates nv are those which are included in the 

applicable legislation (especially the Companies Code 

and the Royal Decree of 10 April 1995) and the articles 

of association of Retail Estates nv. The articles of 

association of Retail Estates nv do not deviate from the 

abovementioned legal provisions.

Contractual conditions

The conditions under which the financial institutions 

have provided Retail Estates nv with financing require 

it to retain the status of a fixed capital real estate 

investment company and the general conditions under 

which this financing was awarded give the banks the 

option to demand early repayment in the event of 

change of control. In addition, a covenant has been 

written into the credit agreements with a number of 

financial institutions whereby Retail Estates nv commits 

to maintaining a maximum level of debt of 60% (lower 

than the legal ceiling of 65%).

Retail Estates sa Articles of Association

The Retail Estates’ Articles of Association are published 

on page 132 of the Annual Report. Their most recent 

revisions date from the Extraordinary General Meeting 

of 31 March 2009.
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Financial report
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”
“	 Net	current	result	up	strongly	
by	12.55%	to	EUR	3.13	per	share
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1. ConSoLIdATEd InComE STATEmEnT

INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) Note 31.03.09 31.03.08

Rental income 1 26 115 21 590
Rental related expenses 2 -375 -253

Net rental income 25 740 21 337

Recovery of property expenses
Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on 
let properties 3 1 759 1 487

Charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 4 -1 882 -1 536

Other rental related income and expenses 5 -19 -25

Property result 25 599 21 263

Technical costs 6 -761 -682
Commercial costs 7 -34 -56
Charges and taxes on unlet properties 8 -52 -47
Property management costs 9 -825 -711
Other property charges 10 -33 -15

Property charges -1 705 -1 511

Operating property result 23 894 19 752

Corporate operating costs 11 -1 832 -1 619
Other current operating income and expenses

Operating result before result on the portfolio 22 061 18 134

Result on disposals of investment property 12 127 933
Result on sales of other non financial assets
Changes in fair value of investment property 13 1 808 9 827

Operating result 23 996 28 894

Financial income 14 599 502
Interest charges 15 -10 149 -7 568
Other financial charges 16 -174 -207

Financial result -9 724 -7 273

Result before taxes 14 272 21 620

Taxes 17 -269 -454
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INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) Note 31.03.09 31.03.08
NET RESULT 14 003 21 166

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 14 003 21 140

Note
Net current result (part of Group) 12 068 10 406
Result on portfolio 1 935 10 760

EARNINGS PER SHARE Note 31.03.09 31.03.08

Number of ordinary shares 18 3 845 381 3 737 999
Net profit per ordinary share (in €) 20 3.64 5.66
Diluted net profit per share (in €) 20 3.64 5.66
Distributable result per share (in €) 20 3.17 2.81
Net current result per share (in €) 3.13 2.78
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ASSETS (in 000 €) Note 31.03.09 31.03.08

Non-current assets 389 864 327 498
Goodwill
Intangible assets 21 177 193
Investment properties 22 383 644 319 655
Development projects 22 5 349 5 300
Other tangible fixed assets 21 333 319
Non-current financial assets 23 340 2 014
Trade receivables and other non-current assets 24 22 17

Current assets 8 632 6 610
Assets held for sale 25 6 389 246
Trade receivables 26 548 845
Tax receivables and other current assets 27 880 1 007
Cash and cash equivalents 28 582 4 275
Deferred charges and accrued income 29 233 237

TOTAL ASSETS 398 496 334 108

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
(in 000 €) Note 31.03.09 31.03.08

Shareholders’ equity 158 259 163 984

Shareholders’ equity attributable to the shareholders of 
the parent company 158 259 163 353

Capital 30 86 523 84 107
Share premium 31 10 045 7 956
Reserves 32 66 447 63 566
Result 19 874 16 990
Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and 
costs resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment 
properties

33 -10 810 -8 526

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 -13 820 -740
Minority interests 35 631

Liabilities 240 237 170 124

Non-current liabilites 227 299 153 158
Provisions
Non-current financial debts 40 213 120 151 671

Credit institutions 213 039 151 515
Financial lease 80 156

Other non-current liabilities 36 14 179 1 487

2. ConSoLIdATEd BALAnCE ShEET
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
(in 000 €) Note 31.03.09 31.03.08

Current liabilities 12 938 16 966
Current financial debts 40 504 6 137

Credit institutions 428 5 993
Financial lease 76 144

Trade debts and other current debts 37 10 298 8 065
Other current liabilities 38 195 186
Accrued charges and deferred income 39 1 942 2 578

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 398 496 334 108

DEBT RATIO 31.03.09 31.03.08

Debt ratio1 56,25% 49,71%

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (in €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Net asset value per share (fair value) (2)  41,16  43,70 
Net asset value per share (investment value) (3)  43,97  45,98 

Net asset value per share (fair value) (ex dividend) (2)  38,62  41,24 
Net asset value per share (investment value) (ex dividend) (3)  41,43  43,52 

(1)  The debt ratio is calculated as the liabilities excluding provisions,accrued charges and deferred income and the change in the fair value of the coverage 
instruments, divided by the total assets    

(2) The net assets per share (fair value) is calculated as follows: shareholders’ equity divided by the number of shares    

(3)  The net assets per share (investment value) is calculated as follows: shareholders’ equity excluding the impact on the fair value of estimated transaction 
duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment properties divided by the number of shares    
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3. STATEmEnT oF ChAngES In EQuITy

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in 000 €)

Share 
capital 

Ordinary 
shares

Share   
premium

Reserves Result Impact on fair  
value of estima-
ted transaction 

duties and costs 
resulting from 

the hypothetical 
disposal of invest-

ment properties 

Changes in 
fair value 

of financial 
assets and 

liabilities

Minority 
interests

Total  
share-

holders’ 
equity

legal

available for 
distribution  

(result on 
portfolio)

available for 
distribution 

(others)

not  
available

Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2007 (IFRS) 80 303 4 660 63 269 57 568 10 392 -6 817 652 147 090
- Profit of financial year 2007-2008 21 166 21 166
- Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves not available for distribution 9 827 -9 827
-  Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment properties -2 050 -2 050

- Dividends of financial year 2006-2007 -8 494 -8 494
- Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities

* on financial assests for disposal
* on derivative financial instruments -1 392 -1 392

- Capital increase by contribution in kind 3 804 3 296 7 100
-  Reclassification between reserves  as a result of the disposal of shares held in Retail Park 

Sandweiler sa -42 -4 368 4 094 317

-  Transfer from reserves not available for distribution to reserves available for distribution as a 
result of disposals 607 -607

- Minority interests -5 -26 24 631 624
- Legal reserves of subsidiaries 253 -253
- Others -61 -61
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2008 (IFRS) 84 107 7 956 274 876 62 416 16 990 -8 527 -740 631 163 983
- Transfer from unavailable to available reserves in the framework of article 617* 62 416 -62 416
- Profit of financial year 2008-2009 14 003 14 003
- Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves  available for distribution 1 808 -1 808
-  Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment properties -1 270 -1 270

- Dividends of financial year 2007-2008 -9 195 -9 195
- Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities

* on financial assests for disposal
* on derivative financial instruments -13 080 -13 080

- Capital increase by contribution in kind 2 416 2 089 4 505
- Reclassification between reserves 1 037 -1 037
-  Transfer from reserves  available for distribution (result on portfolio) to reserves available for 

distribution (others) as a result of disposals -7 -138 146 -26 24

- Minority interests -7 -631 -638
- Legal reserves of subsidiaries 28 -28
- Costs of capital increase -78 -78
- Others 5 23 28
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2009 (IFRS) 86 523 10 045 296 65 129 1 023 19 874 -10 810 -13 820 158 259

*  In accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders of 29 June 2009 to align the presentation of the 
reserves with their legal nature in accordance with article 617 of the Companies’ Code.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in 000 €)

Share 
capital 

Ordinary 
shares

Share   
premium

Reserves Result Impact on fair  
value of estima-
ted transaction 

duties and costs 
resulting from 

the hypothetical 
disposal of invest-

ment properties 

Changes in 
fair value 

of financial 
assets and 

liabilities

Minority 
interests

Total  
share-

holders’ 
equity

legal

available for 
distribution  

(result on 
portfolio)

available for 
distribution 

(others)

not  
available

Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2007 (IFRS) 80 303 4 660 63 269 57 568 10 392 -6 817 652 147 090
- Profit of financial year 2007-2008 21 166 21 166
- Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves not available for distribution 9 827 -9 827
-  Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment properties -2 050 -2 050

- Dividends of financial year 2006-2007 -8 494 -8 494
- Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities

* on financial assests for disposal
* on derivative financial instruments -1 392 -1 392

- Capital increase by contribution in kind 3 804 3 296 7 100
-  Reclassification between reserves  as a result of the disposal of shares held in Retail Park 

Sandweiler sa -42 -4 368 4 094 317

-  Transfer from reserves not available for distribution to reserves available for distribution as a 
result of disposals 607 -607

- Minority interests -5 -26 24 631 624
- Legal reserves of subsidiaries 253 -253
- Others -61 -61
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2008 (IFRS) 84 107 7 956 274 876 62 416 16 990 -8 527 -740 631 163 983
- Transfer from unavailable to available reserves in the framework of article 617* 62 416 -62 416
- Profit of financial year 2008-2009 14 003 14 003
- Transfer of the result on the portfolio to the reserves  available for distribution 1 808 -1 808
-  Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting from the hypothetical 

disposal of investment properties -1 270 -1 270

- Dividends of financial year 2007-2008 -9 195 -9 195
- Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities

* on financial assests for disposal
* on derivative financial instruments -13 080 -13 080

- Capital increase by contribution in kind 2 416 2 089 4 505
- Reclassification between reserves 1 037 -1 037
-  Transfer from reserves  available for distribution (result on portfolio) to reserves available for 

distribution (others) as a result of disposals -7 -138 146 -26 24

- Minority interests -7 -631 -638
- Legal reserves of subsidiaries 28 -28
- Costs of capital increase -78 -78
- Others 5 23 28
Shareholders’ equity at 31 March 2009 (IFRS) 86 523 10 045 296 65 129 1 023 19 874 -10 810 -13 820 158 259

*  In accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders of 29 June 2009 to align the presentation of the 
reserves with their legal nature in accordance with article 617 of the Companies’ Code.



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 52 -

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 4 275 11 306

1. Cash flow from operating activities 7 319 6 595

net result of the financial year 14 003 21 166
Operating result 23 996 28 894
Interest paid -9 404 -6 415
Interest received 111 377
Dividends received 149
Corporation tax paid -289 -183
Accrued interest -1 318
Other -412 -337

non-cash elements to be added to/deducted from result -1 688 -10 632
* Depreciation  and Writedowns

-  Depreciation / writedowns (or writebacks) on intangible and tangible 
assets 140 121

- Depreciation / writedowns (or writebacks) on trade receivables 107 8

* Other non-cash elements
- Changes in fair value of investment properties -1 808 -9 827
- Profit on sale of investment properties -127 -933

* Others

Change in working capital requirements -4 996 -3 939
* Movements of assets:

- Trade receivables 399 2 365
- Tax receivables and other current assets 126 -379
- Deferred charges and accrued income 5 149

* Movements of liabilities:
- Trade and other current debts -4 899 -7 438
- Other current liabilities 9 12
- Accrued charges and deferred income -636 1 351

4. ConSoLIdATEd CASh FLoW STATEmEnT 
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(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

2. Cash-flow from investment activities -42 397 -30 051

Purchase of intangible assets -48 -2
Purchase of investment properties -3 691 -4 862
Disposal of investment properties 746 13 188
Purchase of shares of investment companies -32 802 -40 176
Disposal of shares of investment companies 852 8 531
Transfer of development projects -8 654 -7 288
Purchase of other tangible assets -89 -170
Disposal of non-current financial assets 1 294 -80
Income from trade receivables and other non-current assets -4 -6
Disposal of assets held for sale 813

3. Cash-flow from financing activities 31 385 16 424

* Change in financial debts
- Increase in financial debts 50 825 57 449
- Decrease in financial debts -10 235 -31 524

* Change in other liabilities
- Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities -9 28
- Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other debts -1 036

* Dividends
- Dividend for the previous year -9 195 -8 494

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 582  4 275
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noTES To ThE ConSoLIdATEd FInAnCIAL STATEmEnTS

I.	General	company	information

Retail Estates nv (“the Company”) is a ‘REIT’ (Belgian 

fixed-capital property investment fund) that is subject to 

Belgian law, with its registered office in Ternat.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company 

for the financial year ended on 31 March 2009 include 

the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The 

financial statements were approved for publication 

by the Board of Directors on 29 May 2009 and will 

be presented to the annual shareholders’ meeting for 

approval on 29 June 2009.

II		Important	principles	for		
financial	reporting

A. Statement of conformity

The consolidated annual accounts are drawn up in 

accordance with accounting standards consistent with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards as 

implemented by the Royal Decree of 21 June 2006 on 

accounting, the annual accounts and the consolidated 

accounts of public fixed-asset property investment 

funds, and amending the Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 

on fixed-asset property funds.

During the determination on the fair value of investment 

properties in accordance with IAS 40 Investment 

Property, the estimated amount of transaction duties 

and costs are deducted by the independent property 

expert. The abovementioned Royal Decree (RD) permits 

the impact on the fair value of investment properties 

due to these estimated transaction duties and costs 

resulting from hypothetical disposal of investment 

properties to be recognised directly in the equity in a 

specific account for this purpose “Impact on the fair 

value of the estimated transaction duties and costs 

resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment 

properties”, as provided for in this RD. During the 

financial years ending on 31 March 2009 and 31 

March 2008, EUR 1.24 million and EUR 1.71 million 

respectively were recognised directly in equity in this 

account.

Application of IFRS 3 Business Combinations

Acquisitions of companies during the past financial 

year have not been treated as business combinations 

as defined by IFRS 3, based on the conclusion that 

this is not applicable, given the nature and size of the 

companies over which control has been acquired. These 

are companies which own a limited number of properties, 

and which it is not intended to hold as independent 

businesses. The companies are fully or proportionally 

consolidated in accordance with IAS 40.

new or amended standards and interpretations which 

are in force at 31/03/2009

The following interpretations published by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee have become effective for the present 

financial year: IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury 

Share Transactions, IFRIC 12 Service Concession 

Arrangements, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 

and IFRIC 14-IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit 

Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 

Interaction. The application of these interpretations 

has not led to adaptations in the group’s financial 

accounting principles.

new or amended standards and interpretations which 

are not yet in force

A number of new standards, amendments to standards 

and interpretations were not yet in force in the financial 

year 2008/2009, but can be applied earlier. 

Unless stated otherwise, the group has not availed of 

this option. A list of these standards is given below:

• IAS 1(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements
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This amendment becomes effective for financial years 

that start on or after 1 January 2009. This standard 

will have consequences for the presentation of the 

2009/2010 annual accounts.

•  IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

This amendment becomes effective for financial years 

that begin on or after 1 July 2009.

• IFRS 2 Share based payments

This standard has been adapted as regards the 

conditions for unconditional acceptance and 

cancellation.

The adaptations apply for financial years from 1 January 

2009.

•  IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 

1: Presentation of Financial Instruments – Puttable 

Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 

Liquidation

This adaptation becomes effective for financial years 

that begin on or after 1 January 2009. The group 

expects that this adaptation will not have any effect on 

the 2009/2010 annual accounts.

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations:

This standard will be applicable from 1 July 2009.

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments

This new standard, which becomes effective from 1 

January 2009, replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting. 

This standard sets new guidelines on the information to 

be provided in respect of the separate segments. This 

appears to permit companies to align the choice of the 

separate segments and the information to be provided 

on them with their internal reporting.

This will not lead to significant changes in the 

consolidated financial statements.

• IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

This amendment becomes effective for financial 

years which begin on or after 1 January 2009. This 

amendment is already applied by the group, although 

it has no effect on the principles applied by the group 

for financial reporting, as the group already capitalises 

financing costs which can be directly be ascribed to the 

acquisition or construction of property investments. The 

amendment of IAS 23 marks the end of the option to 

charge all costs relating to loans directly to income at 

the time incurred.

• IAS 40/IAS 16

Assets under construction which will later be held as 

property investments are no longer treated as tangible 

fixed assets (IAS 16) but as property investments 

(IAS 40). In this way the difference between the cost 

price and fair value is already recognised during the 

construction period.

This amendment becomes effective for financial years 

which begin on or after 1 January 2009. This standard 

will have consequences for the treatment of project 

developments in the 2009/2010 financial statements, 

and in particular of projects already in execution.

B. Basis of preparation

The financial information is presented in thousands 

of euros, rounded off to the nearest thousand. The 

accounting principles are applied consistently within the 

Group.

Below you will find a summary of the most important 

principles for financial reporting. The accounting 

principles have been consistently applied during the 

whole of the relevant period.
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C. Consolidation principles

The companies which the Group controls are 

consolidated according to the full consolidation method.

Full consolidation consists of incorporating all the 

assets and liabilities of the consolidated companies, 

as well as all the costs and the revenues, with the 

necessary eliminations.

Control is defined as the ability of Retail Estates nv 

to directly or indirectly determine the financial and 

operational policy of the subsidiary, with the objective 

of acquiring benefits from this company’s real estate 

activities. 

For the treatment of certificates by the full consolidation 

method, Retail Estates nv must not only have control 

over the issuing company, but must also own 75% 

of the issued certificates. In this case an obligation 

is recognised towards the holders of certificates in 

respect of shares not held by the company.

Eligible for such treatment are only the interests held in 

the property certificate “Wickes Tournai, Mechelen,..”.

Since 30 June 2008, Retail Estates has been a 

participant in the Immo Bartan nv joint venture, over 

which it exercises joint control. This joint venture 

is consolidated by the proportional consolidation 

method. Proportional consolidation is an administrative 

processing and reporting method whereby the joint 

venture partner’s share in each of the assets, liabilities, 

and debit and credit income statement items of the 

entity over which joint control is exercised is added, item 

by item, to the joint venture partner’s annual accounts.  

In practice this means that 50% of these items are 

recognised, proportionally to the shareholding.

D. Translation of foreign currencies

Currency transactions are entered at the exchange 

rate valid on the transaction date. Monetary assets and 

currency liabilities are valued at the final rate in force 

on the balance sheet date. Exchange rate differences 

deriving from the conversion of monetary assets and 

currency liabilities are entered in the income statement 

in the period when they occur. Non-monetary assets 

and currency liabilities are converted at the exchange 

rate valid at the transaction date.

E. Financial instruments

Fair value hedge

The Group uses financial derivatives (interest rate 

swaps) to hedge interest rate exposure arising from 

operational, financial and investment activities. 

Derivative financial products are recognised initially at 

their cost price. 

After initial recognition, the financial derivatives are 

measured at fair value in the financial statements. Gains 

or losses that result from changes in the fair value of 

the financial derivatives are immediately recognised in 

the income statement, unless a derivative satisfies the 

conditions for hedge accounting. The fair value of the 

financial interest rate derivatives is the amount that 

the company expects to receive or pay if the financial 

interest rate derivative would be terminated as of the 

balance sheet date, in which the prevailing interest rate 

and the credit risk of the counterparty concerned are 

also taken into account.



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 57 -

Cash Flow hedge

If a financial derivative can be documented as an 

effective hedge of the possible fluctuations of cash 

flows, which are attributable to a specific risk linked 

to an asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 

transaction, the part of the profit or loss that ensues 

from the change in value of the financial interest rate 

derivative that has been recognised as an effective 

hedge is posted directly to equity under “Changes in 

the fair value of financial assets and liabilities”. The 

ineffective part of the financial derivative is recognised 

in the income statement.

F. Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortised, 

but is annually subjected to an impairment test.

G. Investment properties

valuation at initial recognition

Investment properties include all properties that are 

ready to let. Investment properties are initially valued 

at acquisition cost, including additional expenses and 

non-deductible VAT. The exit tax, due from companies 

over which the Group acquires direct or indirect control 

is part of the acquisition cost (in principle it is deducted 

from the value of the underlying property given that 

it is a tax on the latent capital gain existing in the 

acquired company prior to the acquisition of control), 

unless these companies do not qualify for merger 

with the property fund (as decided by the Board of 

Directors). The commission regarding to the acquisition 

of the building is considered as additional costs of the 

acquisition and is added to the acquisition cost.

valuation after initial recognition

At the end of each quarter, an independent property 

expert exactly appraises each of the following property 

elements:

•  the properties, the properties by function, and the 

rights on properties held by Retail Estates nv or a 

company it controls;

•  option rights on properties held by Retail Estates nv 

or by a property company it controls, as well as the 

property to which these rights give entitlement;

•  the contract rights by which one or more property 

assets are leased to Retail Estates nv or to a company 

it controls, together with the underlying assets.

The experts perform their appraisals in accordance 

with national and international standards and their 

application procedures, including those in the field 

of the valuation of property funds (according to the 

provisional decrees, the experts retain the right to adapt 

the valuation in the event of an amendments in the 

decrees). The fair value is defined as the most probable 

value that can be reasonably obtained between 

knowledgeable and willing parties in normal competitive 

conditions. Then an estimated amount for transfer taxes 

is deducted from this value. This is how the fair value of 

the asset is obtained in accordance with the meaning 

of IAS 40. The estimated amount of transfer taxes is 

valued at a flat rate set at 2.5% (see appendix 22 – 

investment properties).

Gains or losses that result from the fluctuation in the 

fair value of an investment property are recognised in 

the income statement and incorporated in the period in 

which they arise and, at the appropriation of profit, are 

assigned to the reserves available for distribution. 
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Expenditure for works on investment property

The expenditure for works on investment property 

is charged to the operating property result if the 

expenditure has no positive effect on the expected 

future economic benefits, and is capitalised if it 

substantially increases the expected economic benefits 

that it brings to the entity. There are basically 2 

important types expenditure:

a) costs of maintenance and renovation of roof 

coverings and car parks: are charged to the operating 

property result;

b) costs for major renovations : renovation is one-

off work that adds a function to the building or 

significantly improves the current comfort level, 

leading to an increase in the rent and/or rental value. 

Such costs are capitalised and thus added to the fair 

value of the property investments. These costs cover 

materials, fees, subcontracting work and the like. 

Internal management and supervision costs are not 

capitalised.

disposal of an investment property

The gains or losses realised on the sale of an investment 

property are classified as “result on disposals of 

investment property” and are allocated to the retained 

earnings for the purposes of the appropriation account. 

Commission paid to estate agents under a mandate 

to sell, transactions charges and liabilities resulting 

from transactions are a charge against the gain or loss 

realised on the sale.

H. Development projects

The development projects represent the cost of 

new building and/or conversion work, including the 

acquisition value of the land. Property assets under 

construction or in the process of reconstruction or 

expansion are valued at cost as the works progress, 

including incidental costs such as finance costs, 

registration duty and nondeductible VAT.

After the provisional completion of the construction 

work needed to make the building ready to let, the asset 

is fully transferred to the ‘Investment property’ item.

I. Other tangible fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment other than land and 

buildings, having a limited useful life, are valued at 

acquisition cost, and then depreciated over their 

expected useful life using the straight-line method.

The following annual depreciation and amortization 

percentages apply:

Plant, machinery and equipment 20%
Furniture 10%
Vehicles 20%
IT equipment 33%
Standard software 33%
Tailor-made software 20-25%

Leased equipment is depreciated over the contracted 

period of the lease.

If there are indications that an asset may have suffered 

an impairment loss, the carrying amount is compared 

with the realisable value. If the carrying amount is 

higher than the realisable value, an impairment loss is 

recognised.

When other tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, 

their carrying amount ceases to be recognised in the 

balance sheet and the gain or loss is recognised in 

profit and loss.
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J.  Trade accounts receivable and other non-
current assets

Non-current receivables are discounted on the basis of 

the interest rates that apply on the date of acquisition. 

A writedown is entered if uncertainty exists concerning 

the collectability of the receivable at maturity.

K. Real estate certificates

valuation

1. general principle

If the holder of the certificates does not have material 

interest (more than 75%) in a real estate certificate as 

at the closing date, the certificates are entered at the 

weighted average quoted price during the preceding 30 

days, and classified as Non-current Financial Assets. 

A deviation from this occurs if, on the basis of publicly 

available information and the issue conditions for the 

real estate certificate, a net asset value is noted that is 

substantially below the stock market price. The value is 

then limited to the net asset value.

2.  ownership of material interest (more than 75%) 

in certificates issued (as at 31 march 2009 

only applicable to the “distri-Land” real estate 

certificates)

The quoted price of these real estate certificates, as 

listed on the Euronext– Second Market, cannot be 

considered as a reliable reference given the limited 

liquidity of this real estate certificate. Retail Estates nv’s 

policy is to revalue its real estate certificates at every 

closing date in function of:

a)  the fair value of the investment property owned by 

the issuer, similar to the valuation of the company’s 

own properties. This occurs on the basis of a periodic 

valuation by a property expert engaged jointly by 

Retail Estates nv and Immobilière Distri-Land nv. 

Where one or more buildings are sold by the real 

estate certificate issuer, the sale price shall be used 

as the valuation until the distribution of the sale’s 

proceeds;

b)  the contractual rights of the holder of the real estate 

certificate in compliance with the prospectus that 

was published at the insurance of the real estate 

certificate.

Retail Estates nv invests only in certificates issued for 

the financing of city periphery retail properties. The 

investment properties owned by the issuer are the type 

of out-of town retail properties in line with Retail Estates 

nv’s investment objectives. Although Retail Estates nv is 

not the legal owner of these properties, it considers itself 

as the economic beneficiary pro rata its contractual 

rights in ownership. In addition an investment in real 

estate certificates is considered as investment property 

pursuant to section 1:2 (4) of the Royal Decree of 10 

April 1995 on property investment funds.

Taking these considerations into account, the 

certificates are classified as investment property at 

their acquisition cost including additional expenses. 

Gains or losses that result from the fluctuation in the 

fair value of investment property are recognised in the 

income statement and incorporated in the period in 

which they arise and at the appropriation of profits are 

assigned to the reserves available for distribution.

Treatment of coupons

1. Treatment of operating result

As a holder of the real estate certificates, Retail 

Estates nv has a contractual right, pro rata to the real 

estate certificates in its possession, to a share of 

the operating result realised by the issuer resulting 

from rent income minus operating and maintenance 

expenses. The entire decrease or increase in value 

is recognised by re-estimating the value of the real 
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estate certificate. As a result the coupon should not 

be considered as a compensation for any reduction in 

value of the issuer’s buildings. For this reason the entire 

coupon is treated as net rental income and is classified 

as turnover.

2. Treatment of the liquidation balance on the sale of 

property

Whenever a particular property in the issuer’s portfolio 

is sold, it is treated as follows: the net proceeds, after 

retention of any withholding tax liability, are recognised 

as a realised capital gain in Retail Estates nv’s accounts 

only for the difference between the fair value of the 

real estate certificate at the closing date plus the net 

liquidation coupon and the fair value at the previous 

closing date.

The fair value of the real estate certificate is calculated 

at each closing date by performing a valuation of the 

certificate holder’s contractual rights as these appear 

in the issue prospectus. Gains or losses that result 

from the fluctuation in the fair value of investment 

property are recognised in the income statement and 

incorporated in the period in which they arise, and at 

the appropriation of profits are assigned to the reserves 

available for distribution.

L. Assets held for sale

This concerns properties for which the carrying amount 

will be basically realised at the sale of the assets and 

not by the further letting. Just like the investment 

properties (see above), these assets are recognised 

at fair value, which is the investment value less the 

transfer taxes. 

M. Current assets

The receivables expected within one year are recognised 

at their nominal value, less write-downs for doubtful or 

bad debts.

Cash investments are recognised at the lower of 

acquisition cost or market value. Any supplementary 

costs are charged directly to the income statement. Listed 

securities are valued at their quoted price (on the balance 

sheet date).

N. Shareholders’ equity

The capital includes the funds obtained at formation, 

merger or increases of capital. The third-party charges 

that are directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

are deducted from the shareholders’ equity.

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased 

by the Group, the amount of the consideration paid, 

including directly attributable costs, is recognised as 

change in equity. Purchased shares are presented as a 

deduction from total equity.

Dividends are recognised as debt only when they are 

approved by the General Shareholders’ meeting.

O. Liabilities

provisions

A provision is formed if :

-  Retail Estates nv has an existing – legally enforceable 

or actual – commitment as a result of an event in the 

past;

-  it is probable that an outflow of funds will be required 

to settle the commitment; and 

-  the amount of the commitment can be reliably 

estimated.

Trade debts are presented at their nominal value on 

balance sheet date.



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 61 -

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recognised at 

cost price less the directly attributable costs.

Subsequently the interest-bearing borrowings are 

recognised at the current value of still payable balances, 

with each difference between the latter and the 

redemption value is recognised in the income statement 

over the term of the loan on the basis of the effective 

interest rate method.

P. Personnel benefits

Retail Estates nv provides a defined contribution 

pension scheme for its employees and general manager. 

This scheme is entrusted to a fund that is independent 

of the company. Contributions paid during the financial 

year are recognised as expenses.

Q. Property result

The net rental result includes the rent, operating lease 

income and other income related to these, minus the 

rent-related expenses, being the negative variation 

in the fair value of buildings and the rent payable on 

leased assets.

The recovery of property expenses includes the revenue 

from the charging on of major repair and maintenance 

costs .

The charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on 

let properties and recovery of these expenses refer to 

costs that under law or custom fall to the expense of 

the tenant or lessee. The owner will either charge or 

not charge these costs to the tenant according to the 

contractual arrangements made with the tenant.

Income is valued at fair value of the compensation 

received and entered to the income statement using the 

straight-line method in the periods to which it refers.

Compensation paid by lessees for the early termination 

of a lease contract is taken to income over a certain 

period according to the number of months’ rent the 

lessee has paid and insofar as the property in question 

has not been re-let.

R. Property charges

The property charges are valued at the fair value of the 

compensation that has been paid or is due, and are 

entered to the income statement using the straight-line 

method in the period to which it refers.

The technical costs include, among other things, 

structural and occasional maintenance and losses from 

damage covered by the insurance companies.

The commercial costs include brokers’ commission 

fees. The property management costs mainly include 

the costs of the personnel responsible for this activity, 

the operating costs of the company’s registered offices 

and fees paid to third parties.

Management fees received from tenants or third 

parties, which partially cover the management costs of 

the properties, are deducted.

S.  Corporate operating costs and other current 
operating income and expenses

The corporate operating costs of the company cover the 

fixed operating costs of the company which operates 

as a legal, listed company and enjoys property Bevak 

status. These costs are incurred in order to obtain 

transparent financial information, to be economically 

comparable with other types of investments and to offer 

investors the opportunity of participating indirectly, in 

a liquid manner, in a diversified real estate investment. 

A portion of the costs incurred in the context of the 

company’s growth strategy are also included in this 

category.
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T. Financial result

The financial result consists of the borrowing costs and 

additional funding costs, such as the negative variations 

in hedging instruments where these are not effective 

within the meaning of IAS 39, less the income from 

investments.

U. Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises 

current tax. Income tax is recognised in the income 

statement except to the extent that it relates to 

items recognised directly to equity in which case it is 

recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected tax 

payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rate enacted or substantially enacted at balance sheet 

date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years.

V. Exit tax

An exit tax is a corporate tax on the capital gain that 

arises upon merger of a fixed capital investment 

company (bevak) with a company that is not a bevak. 

When this company enters the consolidation scope of 

the Group, a provision for exit tax liabilities is recorded 

simultaneously with a re-evalution gain on the property 

corresponding to the market value of the property 

and taking into account a forecasted merger date. 

In principle, intermediate revisions of this provision 

for exit tax take place only when the rise in value in 

this company’s property calls for this increase. Any 

overvaluation owing to reductions in value is established 

only at the time of effective realisation of the merger. 

Any subsequent adjustment to this tax liability is 

recognised in the income statement. 



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 63 -

III.	Financial	risk	management

Interest rate risk

53% of the Group’s net assets are funded by interest-

bearing debts which make the company subject to 

an interest rate risk. This risk is limited as much as 

possible by the prudent policy that is pursued: the 

majority of the financial debts are concluded at a fixed 

interest rate or at a variable interest rate that is hedged 

against interest rate rises.

Financing risk

The long-term financing is concluded in the form of 

“bullet loans”, which are loans for which the principal 

must be paid back in full after a term of 5 to 8 years. 

The diversification of financing over various banks limits 

the group’s liquidity risk. The group concludes 95% of 

its loans at a fixed interest rate or at a variable interest 

rate which is immediately converted to a fixed interest 

rate. The net result is therefore not sensitive to interest 

rate fluctuations.

Credit risk

Before a new tenant is accepted, a credit risk analysis is 

carried out on the basis of the available information.

Furthermore, rental arrears are carefully monitored by 

the company. In cases of non-payment, the company 

generally holds a bank guarantee.

IV	Segmented	information

A segment is a distinct component of the company 

active in a specific market and subject to risks and 

yields that differ from these of other the segments.

Since out-of-town shops make up 99% of the portfolio of 

Retail Estates, a breakdown by business segment is not 

relevant. The Board of Directors uses no other segment 

for taking its decisions.

The group sold its Luxembourg subsidiary in the last 

quarter of 2008. As a result, the group operates now 

only in Belgium and a split into geographical segments 

is no longer relevant as no differences exist in risk and 

rewards depending on the zone or regions where the 

property is located in Belgium.
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noTES To ThE FInAnCIAL STATEmEnTS

Rounding to the nearest thousand can produce rounding differences between the balance sheet and the income statement 
and the details below.

PROPERTY RESULT 

note 1

Rental income (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Rent 24 602 20 329
Guaranteed income
Operational lease income 1 513 1 261
Rental discounts
Rental benefits ('incentives')
Compensation for breach of contract

Total rental income 26 115 21 590

The rise in rental income is mainly due to the growth of the real estate portfolio.  The table below indicates how much of the 
rental income could potentially be eliminated annually, i.e. if each tenant that has a termination option also effectively leaves 
the building and no renewed leases are concluded.  This does not alter the theoretical risk of all lessees making use of their 
legal right of cancellation at the end of the current three-year period: in this circumstance all shop properties would be empty 
by definition within 3 years and 6 months.   

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Within one year 1 706 267
Between one and five years 3 782 2 827
More than five years 24 733 20 913

Rental income type: Retail Estates concludes commercial rental contracts for its buildings, for a period of at minimum 9 
years, which can usually be terminated after the expiry of the third and sixth year, subject to six months’ notice prior to expiry 
date. The rents are usually paid monthly in advance (sometimes quarterly). They are indexed annually on the anniversary of 
the rental agreement.

Taxes and levies, including advance property tax, the insurance premium and the common charges are borne by the tenant in 
principle. 

To guarantee compliance with the obligations imposed on the tenant by virtue of the agreement, the tenant must provide a 
rental guarantee, usually in the form of a bank guarantee worth 3 months of rent.

At the start of the agreement an inventory of fixtures is drawn between the parties by an independent expert. At the expiry 
of the agreement the tenant must return the premises it hired in the state described in the inventory of fixtures on taking up 
occupancy subject to normal wear and tear.

The tenant cannot transfer the rental agreement or sublet the premises fully or partially, unless it has prior written permission 
from Retail Estates nv. The tenant is obliged to register the agreement at its own expense.
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note 2

Rental-related expenses (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Rent for hired assets and lease costs -268 -246
Write down on trade receivables -121 -16
Reversal of write down on trade receivables 14 9

Total rental-related expenses -375 -253

note 3

Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on 
let properties (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Reinvoicing of charges payable by tenants on let properties 307 227
Reinvoicing of prelevies and taxes on let properties 1 452 1 260

Total recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on 
let properties 1 759 1 487

 

note 4

Charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let 
properties (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Charges borne by the proprietor -400 -244
Prelevy and taxes -1 481 -1 291

Total charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties -1 882 -1 536

The normal tenancy agreements usually provide for these expenses and taxes to be borne by the tenants via charge-on 
invoices from the owner. A number of the Group’s tenancy agreements state, however, that taxes remain payable by the 
owner. 

This classification principally includes the costs of property withholding tax, insurance and utilities.  

note 5

Other rental-related income and expenses (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Other rental-related income and expenses -19 -25

Total other rental-related income and expenses -19 -25

TOTAL PROPERTY RESULT 25 599 21 263
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PROPERTY EXPENSES

note 6

Technical costs (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Recurrent technical costs -588 -566
Structural maintenance -588 -566

Non-recurrent technical costs -173 -116
Occasional maintenance -173 -121
Claim events covered by insurance companies -132 -115
Compensations received from insurance companies 133 120

Total technical costs -761 -682

 
Structural maintenance principally covers the regular renovation of car parks and roofs. Occasional maintenance, on the other 
hand, mainly includes unforeseeable costs for the structure of the let premises as a result of wear, uninsured accidents and 
vandalism.  

note 7

Commercial costs (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Brokers' commissions -25 -15
Marketing costs related to properties
Lawyers' fee and legal costs -2 -16
Others -7 -25

Total commercial costs -34 -56

note 8

Charges and taxes on unlet properties (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Vacancy charges of the financial year -25 -11
Withholding tax on vacant properties -27 -35

Total charges and taxes on unlet properties -52 -47

 
The costs of and taxes on unlet buildings include buildings that are vacant for a limited time in the context of a changeover 
between tenants and properties under development (withholding tax).  
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note 9

property management costs

Management expenses are subdivided into the costs of the management of the portfolio and other expenses.  

These costs mainly include the costs of the personnel responsible for this activity, the operating costs of the company’s 
principal place of business and fees paid to third parties.  Management fees received from the tenants are deducted, and 
partially cover the management cost of the properties.

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Office charges -65 -64
IT -33 -32
Others -31 -32
Housing costs -51 -49
Fees to third parties
Recurrent

Real estate valuers
Lawyers
Others

Non-recurrent
Mergers and acquisitions (other than business combinations)

Public relations, communication and advertising -1 -5
Personnel expenses -652 -533
Salaries -406 -316
Social security -109 -89
Pensions and other benefits -11 -9
Others -126 -120

Management fees received from tenants 29 20
Taxes and regulatory fees
Depreciation charges on office furniture and IT equipment & software -84 -81

Total property management costs -825 -711

 
Personnel costs make up the greater part of the management costs. The table below gives an overview of employee count in 
FTE. 

31.03.09 31.03.08

Property department 5.8 5.8
Total 9.5 9.5
Average 9.3 9.3
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note 10

Other propery charges (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Other property charges -33 -15

Total other property charges -33 -15

TOTAL PROPERTY CHARGES -1 705 -1 511

note 11

Corporate operating costs

The corporate operating costs cover the fixed operating costs of the company that operates as a legal entity listed on the 
stock market and which benefits from the statue for the fixed-capital property investment companies. These costs are 
incurred to provide transparent financial information, to be economically comparable with other types of investments and 
to offer investors the opportunity to directly participate in a diversified property investment in a cash equivalent manner.  A 
proportion of the costs incurred in the context of the company’s strategy are also included under this classification.

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Office charges -41 -35
IT -25 -21
Others -16 -14
Housing costs -32 -31
Fees to third parties -558 -428
Recurrent -217 -117

Lawyers
Auditors -141 -111
Others -77 -6

Non-recurrent -341 -311
Lawyers -4 -111
Notaries -54 -15
Consultants -149 -143

Mergers and acquisitions (other than business combinations) -134 -42
Public relations, communication and advertising -66 -57
Personnel expenses -394 -314
Salaries -260 -202
Social security -69 -56
Pensions and other benefits -8 -6
Others -57 -51
Renumeration of board of directors -115 -82
Taxes and regulatory fees -627 -670

Total operating costs -1 832 -1 619
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This rise in corporate operating costs is explained primarily by a rise in recurrent remuneration and the operating costs that 
have risen as a result of the acquisition policy. 

At 31.03.09 employment in the corporate department amounts to 3.7 FTE. Total employment amounts to 9.5 FTE.

note 12

Result on disposals of investment properties (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Acquisition value 2 764 22 047

Net result on investment property (selling price - transaction costs) 2 892 22 979

Total result on disposals of investment properties 127 932

During the past financial year, 3 properties not viewed as strategic for the group were sold.

The following capital losses were realised: Rocourt EUR 0.07 million, Ekeren EUR 0.02 mllion. The interest in subsidiary CTM 
Invest nv was also sold with a capital gain of EUR 0.22 million.   

note 13

Changes in fair value of investment property (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Positive change in investment property 10 216 12 546
Negative change in investment property -8 409 -2 718

Total changes in fair value of investment property 1 808 9 827

The positive variation in the fair value of investment property is explained by the value created by the development of the 
property for own account.
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note 14

Financial result (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Interest included in the cost of qualifying assets(1) 305 91
Income related to real estate certificate "Distri-Invest" 221
Interest received 19 88
Others 275 103

Total financial result 599 502

(1)  Capitalised interest on temporary financing during the building period.  The average interest rate used to calculate the interest on temporary financing is 
5.02%  

note 15

Interest charges (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Nominal interest on loans -10 149 -7 568

Total interest charges -10 149 -7 568

The weighted average interest rate amounted to 5.07% on 31.03.2009 and 5.02% on 31.03.2008. The company has concluded 
almost all its investment loans with fixed interest rates or as long-term loans with variable interest rates that are hedged 
against fixed interest rates through IRS (interest rate swap) contracts.

note 16

Other financial charges (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Bank costs and other commissions -174 -207

Total other financial charges -174 -207
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note 17

Income taxes (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Company -28 -13
1. Income taxes -28 -13

Tax rate of  33.99% -37 -13
Prior year tax adjustment 9 0

2. Result taxable at 16.5% (exit tax)

Subsidiaries -241 -441
1. Income taxes -372 -182

Current year taxes -378 -222
Prior year tax adjustment 6 40

2. Exit tax 131 -260

Total income taxes -269 -454

A sicafi/bevak is subject to corporation tax solely in respect of non-tax deductible expenditure and abnormal benefits.

note 18

Number of shares and earnings per share 31.03.2009 31.03.2008

Movement of the number of shares number of shares number of shares
Number of shares at the beginning of the financial year 3 737 999 3 568 952
Number of shares at the end of the financial year 3 845 381 3 737 999
Number of dividend bearing shares 3 845 381 3 737 999
Adjustments for diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 3 845 381 3 737 999

3 845 381 3 737 999

On 30 June 2008 an Extraordinary General Meeting resolved to increase capital by EUR 3.5 million in the context of the 
contribution of a property following the partial split of nv Zebra Trading. In this transaction, 83,632 shares were issued at an 
issue price of EUR 41.85 per share. 

On 5 September, again with application of the authorised capital, a capital increase of EUR 1.00 million was undertaken in 
conjunction with the contribution of a property. In this issue 23,750 shares were issued at an issue price of EUR 42.30 per 
share.
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note 19

DETERMINATION OF MINIMUM MANDATORY DIVIDEND PAY-OUT AMOUNT

(in 000 €) 31.03.2009 31.03.2008

Net result (consolidated) 14 003 21 140
Adjustment to statutory financial statement result
Transactions of non-current nature included in net result (+/-)

Depreciation (+) and reversals of depreciation (-) 139 120
Other elements of a non-current nature -24 7

Result on the sale of investment properties (+/-) -127 -933
Changes in fair value of investment properties and project developments (+/-) -1 808 -9 827

Net operating result 12 183 10 507

The net operating result does not have to undergo any further adjustment for possible non-released capital gains on sales of 
investment properties.

A minimum of 80% of the net operating amount is required to be paid out.

note 20

Calculation of earnings per share (in €) Earnings per 
share

Earnings per 
share

Basic earnings per share (1) 3.64 5.66
Diluted earnings per share (2) 3.64 5.66
Distributable earnings per share (3) 3.17 2.81
Minimum profit distribution per share (4) 2.53 2.25

Proposed dividend per share € 2.54 2.46

Pay-out ratio 80.17% 87.54%

(1) The ordinary earnings per share is the net profit/loss as published in the income statement, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
(2)  The diluted ordinary earnings per share are the net profit/loss as published in the income statement, divided by the weighted average number of diluted 

shares
(3) The distributable earnings per share is the amount available for mandatory payment divided by the weighted average number of shares
(4)  A sicafi/bevak is required to pay out at least 80% of its profit for the financial year. Retail Estates nv is paying a dividend of EUR 9.767 million, equal to 

80.17% of the net operating result.    



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 73 -

note 21

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - EXCLUDING INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment and amortisation  table Intangible assets Other tangible fixed assets
(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08 31.03.09 31.03.08

Acquisition value

At the end of the preceding financial year 532 700 678 416
Acquisitions 56 4 98 315
Transfers and disposals of assets (-) -3 -172 -177 -52
Transfers to/from other accounts

At the end of financial year 585 532 600 678

Amortisation and impairment losses

At the end of the preceding financial year 338 453 360 202
Balance of acquired companies 8 2 145
Amortisation (1) 65 56 75 64
Transfers and disposals of assets (-) -3 -172 -167 -52

At the end of financial year 408 338 267 360

Net book value 177 193 333 318

(1)  Amortisation of non-current intangible assets and depreciation of other property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement under 
‘property management costs’. The depreciation on cars is included under the staff costs. 
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note 22

FIXED ASSETS: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Investment and revaluation table Investment  
properties Assets held for sale TOTAL

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08 31.03.09 31.03.08 31.03.09 31.03.08

Amount at the end of the preceding 
financial year 319 656 241 019 246 6 380 319 902 247 399

Acquisition of real estate investment companies 51 490 75 679 686 51 490 76 365
Acquisition of investment properties 8 337 10 409 8 337 10 409
Disposal via the sale of real estate investment 
companies -1 910 -12 681 -1 910 -12 681

Disposal of investment properties -500 -13 850 -246 -1 065 -746 -14 915
Transfers of development projects 10 536 3 730 10 536 3 730
Transfers to assets held for sale -6 389 5 589 6 389 -5 589
Change in fair value (+/-) 2 424 9 762 -166 2 424 9 596

Amount at the end of the financial year 383 644 319 656 6 389 246 390 033 319 902

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Investment property at investment value 394 294 328 206 6 548 271 400 842 328 477

 
Property investments are recorded at fair value, using the fair value model in accordance with IAS 40. The fair value is equal 
to the amount at which a building could be traded between well informed and willing parties acting under normal competitive 
conditions. It is determined by the independent experts in 2 phases.

In a first phase the experts determine the investment value of each property, based on the discounted value of the future net 
rental income.

The discount rate used mainly depends on the discount rates applied in the property market. These take account of 
the asset’s location, and the quality of the buildings and tenant on the date of valuation. The future rents amount to the 
contractual rental income over the period of the rental agreement in force and acceptable and reasonable hypotheses 
concerning rental income from future rental agreements in the light of the current conditions. This value matches the price 
which a third party investor (or hypothetical buyer) would pay to acquire the asset with the aim of enjoying the rental income 
and of generating a return on his investment.

In a second phase the experts deduct an estimated amount for transfer taxes (registration taxes and/or capital gains taxes) 
which the buyer or seller must pay to execute a transfer of ownership. The investment value minus the estimated transfer 
taxes is then the fair value within the meaning of IAS.

The transfer of ownership of property in Belgium is subject to transfer taxes. The amount of this tax depends on the transfer 
method, the capacity of the buyer and the geographical location of the asset. The first 2 elements, and consequently the total 
amount of the taxes to be paid, are therefore only known once the transfer of ownership has been completed. The range of 
property transfer options and the corresponding taxes are as follows:

•  sale agreements for real estate property: 12.5% for assets located in the Region of Brussels Capital and in the Region of 
Wallonia, 10% for assets located in the Region of Flanders;
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• sale of real estate under the broker system: 5.0 to 8.0% depending on the Regions;
• long-lease agreements for real estate property (to 50 years for a right of building and to 99 years for a long lease): 0.2%; 
•  sale agreements for real estate where the buyer is a public law institution (e.g. a European Union, Federal Government, 

regional government or foreign government entity): exemption from duties;
•  contribution in kind of real estate assets in return for the issue of new shares to the benefit of the contributor: exemption 

from duties;
• sale agreement for shares from a property firm: absence of duties;     
• merger, split and other company reorganisations: absence of duties, etc.     

As a result the effective percentage of the registration taxes varies from 0 to 12.5%, whereby it is impossible to predict which 
percentage is applicable to the transfer of a given Belgian property before the actual transfer has taken place. In January 2006 
all of the experts who were involved in determining the value of Belgian property fixed capital investment firms were asked 
to determine a weighted average percentage of the effective taxes for the property investment firms’ real estate portfolios. 
For transactions of properties with a value of over EUR 2.5 million and in view of the range of methods of transferring 
ownership (see above) the experts calculated the weighted average taxes at 2.5% based on a representative sample of 220 
market transactions that took place between 2003 and 2005 worth a total amount of EUR 6.0 billion. This percentage will be 
reviewed annually and if necessary adapted by tranches of 0.5%. As regards transactions involving buildings whose total value 
is lower than EUR 2.5 million, transfer duties of 10% to 25% are applied, depending on the Region where the premises are 
located. Retail Estates nv considers its property portfolio as a whole, that can be disposed of as a whole or unit or a limited 
number of larger parts. In compliance with the valuation as ‘fair value’ by its real estate expert Cushman & Wakefield, the 
value of this property was reduced by 2.5%, which reflects the expected transaction costs for the disposal of this property 
according to the valuers. A limited number of specifically identified premises are difficult to sell along with this property 
portfolio according to Retail Estates nv because they would represent a capital loss for the portfolio as a whole due to their 
type and/or location. As the individual value of these premises is under the threshold of EUR 2.5 million, the full transaction 
costs for the relevant region (10% or 12.5%) are deducted.

Retail Estates nv views its property portfolio as a whole, that can be disposed of as a whole or as a limited number of larger 
parts. In line with the valuation at ‘fair value’ by its real estate valuer Cushman & Wakefield, the value of this property has 
been reduced by 2.5%, equal to the transaction costs expected by the valuers on the disposal of this property.  

During the 2008-2009 financial year, property companies were purchased in an amount of EUR 33.40 million. The property 
companies contain a total of EUR 0.6 million of cash. The net cash flow from the purchase of property companies amounted 
in this way to EUR 32.80. This produced a EUR 53.62 million increase in property investments, a EUR 1.93 increase in 
property developments, a EUR - 6.87 million variation in working capital and a EUR 15.87 million increase in financial debts.

The interest in subsidiary CTM Invest nv was sold for EUR 0.86 million. This interest contained EUR 0.008 million of 
liquid assets, giving a cash flow from the sale of EUR 0.85 million. This produced a EUR 1.91 million decrease in property 
investments, a EUR - 0.64 million variation in working capital, a EUR 0.64 million decrease in financial debts and a EUR 0.22 
million capital gain on sale.      

 In addition, 3 non-strategic properties were sold (sales price: EUR 0.86 million). These were an empty shop property, an SME 
property and an apartment.     

During the 2007-2008 financial year property companies were purchased in an amount of EUR 42.97. These contained a 
total of EUR 2.28 million in cash. The net cash flow from the purchase of the property companies thus amounted to EUR 
40.17 million. This produced a variation of EUR 75.68 million in property investments, a EUR -5.49 million variation in working 
capital, a EUR 28.35 million increase in financial debts and a EUR 1.66 million increase in other debts.  

The Luxembourg subsidiary Retail Park Sandweiler was sold for EUR 8.87 million, containing EUR 0.34 million of liquid assets. 
The net cash flow from the sale was thus EUR 8.53 million. This produced a EUR 12.68 fall in property investments, a  
EUR + 1.48 million variation in working capital, a EUR 3.5 million reduction in financial debts and a capital gain of  
EUR 0.83 million.  
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PROJECT DEVELOPMENTS

Investment and revaluation table

(in 000 €)

Project developments

31.03.09 31.03.08

Balance at the end of the previous financial year 5 300 1 742

Purchases 10 280 7 347
Disposals -150
Capitalised financing costs 305 91
Transfer to investment property -10 536 -3 730
Variation in fair value (+/-)

Balance at the end of the financial year 5 348 5 300

note 23

Non-current financial assets (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Real estate certificate Distri-Invest 1 294
Derivative financial instruments 340 720

Total non-current financial  assets 340 2 014

The interest in the Distri-Invest real estate certificates is purely a financial investment, in contrast to the substantial interest 
of Retail Estates nv in Distri-Land (79.10% of the issued certificates) which is classified as Investment property.  

note 24

Trade receivables and other non-current assets (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Guarantees paid in cash 22 17

Total receivables and other non-current assets 22 17
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CURRENT ASSETS

note 25

Assets held for sale (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Assets held for sale 6 389 246

Total assets held for sale 6 389 246

note 26

TRADE RECEIVABLES 

  

Trade receivables (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Trade receivables 606 420
Invoices still to be issued 77 189
Doubtful debtors -392 -265
Income to be collected 3 206
Coupon real estate certificats

Distri-land 254 223
Distri-invest 72

Others

Total trade receivables 548 845

 
Taking account of guarantees obtained (both rental guarantees and requested bank guarantees) the credit risk on trade 
receivables is limited to appoximately 21% of the outstanding balance on 31 March 2009.    

Doubtful debtors - table of changes (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

At the end of the previous financial year -265 -252
From acquired companies -20 -5
Additions -121 -16
Write-backs 14 9

At the end of the financial year -392 -265

The following method is used for the establishment of the doubtful debtors provision: the list of late rental income is 
closely monitored internally. A provision is established on the basis of a management assessment or when there are clearly 
demonstrable grounds for believing that the receivable can no longer be collected.    
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Trade receivables are payable in cash.  The table below gives an overview of the age structure of the receivables:  

Amount Provision

Due < 30 days 186 12
Due 30-90 days 39 17
Due > 90 days 380 363

note 27

Tax receivables and other current assets (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

VAT receivable 68 4
Corporate tax receivable 88 88
Recoverable real estate tax 263 456
Receivable from registration duties 461 459
Receivable from disposals of fixed assets
Other

Total tax receivables and other current assets 880 1 007

note 28

Cash and cash equivalents (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Bank balances 582 4 275
Cash

Total cash and cash equivalents 582 4 275

note 29

Deferred charges and accrued income (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Recoverable real estate tax
Other deferred charges 189 211
Other accrued income 44 27

Total deferred charges and accrued income 233 237

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8 632  6 610
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note 30

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital

Share capital evolution Capital 
movement

Total 
remaining 

capital 
after the 

transaction

Number 
of created 

shares

Total 
number of 

shares

Date Transaction in 000 € in 000 € in units in units

12/07/88 Formation - 74 3 000 3 000
09/03/98 Split of shares - 74 27 283 30 283
09/03/98 Contribution in kind 11 237 11 311 453 291 483 574
09/03/98 Merger 3 255 14 566 346 638 830 212
09/03/98 Cash contribution 6 071 20 637 346 000 1 176 212
10/03/99 Capital decrease (incorporation of losses) -5 131 15 505 - 1 176 212
10/03/99 Merger  1 385 16 891 283 582 1 459 794
10/03/99 Capital decrease (incorporation of losses) -2 267 14 624 - 1 459 794
10/03/99 Incorporation of losses -174 14 451 - 1 459 794
10/03/99 Incorporation of share premium and revaluation gain 4 793 19 244 - 1 459 794
10/03/99 Cash contribution 10 854 30 098 823 348 2 283 142
01/07/03 Cash contribution 12 039 42 137 913 256 3 196 398
31/12/03 Public offer on real estate certificates Distri-Land 4 907 47 043 372 216 3 568 614
05/11/04 Partial incorporation of share premium 33 250 80 294 - 3 568 614
05/11/04 Annulment of 20 shares -1 80 293 -20 3 568 594
10/08/05 Merger through absorption 1 80 294 130 3 568 724
21/11/06 Merger through absorption 10 80 303 228 3 568 952
30/11/07 Contribution in kind in the context of a partial split 3 804 84 107 169 047 3 737 999
30/06/08 Contribution in kind in the context of a partial split 1 882 85 989 83 632 3 821 631
05/09/08 Contribution in kind 534 86 523 23 750 3 845 381

Article 6.2 of the articles of association : Authorised capital

The Board of Directors is explicitly permitted to increase the subscribed authorised share capital once or several times by 
an amount of not more than eighty million, two hundred and ninety three thousand, three hundred and fifteen euros (EUR 
80,293,315).       

This authorisation is granted to the Board of Directors for a period of five years with effect from the publication in the 
Appendices to the Belgian Official Gazette of the amendment to the articles of association decided by the extraordinary 
general meeting at which this authorisation was granted.       

It can be renewed once or several times, each time for maximum period of five years. Within the limits stated above and 
without deviating from the binding provisions of the Belgian Companies Code, the Board of Directors can decide to increase 
the capital, either by contributions in money, or contributions in kind, or conversion of provisions or share premiums, 
according to the case, with or without issuing new shares.       

If the Board of Directors, as a result of its decision to increase share capital, asks for the payment of a share premium, the 
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amount of this premium will be paid into a non-distributable account, called the ‘share premium’ account, which will serve as 
a guarantee to third parties to the same extent as the authorised share capital, and which, subject to its incorporation into 
capital, may be reduced or abolished only by a decision of the General Meeting deliberating under the conditions stipulated in 
section 612 of the Belgian Companies Code.       

Article 6.3 of the articles of association : Acquisition of the company’s own shares

The company may acquire and dispose of its own shares under the conditions set by law. The Board of Directors is authorised, 
subject to the provisions of article 620 et seq of the Companies’ Code, to resolve that the company can acquire and dispose 
of its own shares whenever such acquisition or disposal is necessary in order to prevent imminent and serious detriment 
to the company. This authorisation is valid for 3 years from the date of publication in the Belgian Official Gazette of the 
amendment of the articles of association of 31 March 2009, and can be extended by the general meeting for the same term.

The Board of Directors is authorised, during a period of 5 year following the amendment of the articles of association of 31 
March 2009, to purchase its own shares at a price per share not lower than 85% of the closing stock market price of the day 
prior to the transaction and not higher than 115% of the closing stock market price of the day before the transaction date, 
with the company not being allowed to hold more than 20% of the total number of issued shares. These conditions and limits 
apply also for acquisitions and disposals of shares of the company by subsidiaries within the meaning of article 827, §1 of the 
Companies Code, as well as shares acquired by persons acting on their own name but for the account of the subsidiary. 

Articles 6.4- 6.5 – 6.6 of the articles of association : Capital increase 

The capital of the company can be increased through a decision by the general meeting, deliberating in accordance with the 
section 558 and, where appropriate, section 560 of the Belgian Companies Code, or by a decision of the Board of Directors 
within the framework of the authorised capital. The company is nevertheless prohibited from subscribing directly or indirectly 
to its own capital.       

The capital increase that takes place by public subscription during the two years following the registration of the company on 
the list referred to in section 31 of the Act of 20 July 2004 on specific forms of group management of investment portfolios, 
however, will not occur. The subscription price and, where appropriate, commission and brokerage fees paid will be paid 
back to the subscribers, if the amount of the already issued capital increased by the total amount of subscriptions after the 
expiry of the subscription period is lower than the minimum investment budget stipulated in section 4 §1 (6) of the Belgian 
Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 on fixed-capital property investment companies. The preceding paragraph will be included in 
the terms of issue of the increases of capital carried out means of public subscription within the two years that follow the 
registration date mentioned above.       

The general meeting can decide to issue shares without mentioning a nominal value at below the fractional value of old 
shares. The invitation to the general meeting must state this explicitly.

In cases of increase of capital with creation of share premiums, the amount of this premium must be fully paid up at 
subscription.

In accordance with section 11 §1 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 on fixed-capital property investment 
companies, there can be no suspension of the preferential right of the shareholders in a capital increase via an issue of 
shares in return for a cash contribution.

In cases of an issue of shares in return for a contribution in kind, the following conditions must be met:

-  the identity of the contributor must be stated in the report referred to in article 602 §3 of the Belgian Companies Code, as 
well as in the invitation to the general meeting convened for the share capital increase;

- the issue price cannot be less than the average quoted price during the thirty days prior to the contribution;
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-  the report referred to in the first condition above must also state the repercussions of the proposed contribution on the 
situation of former shareholders, in particular with respect to their share in the profit and capital.

note 31

SHARE PREMIUM

Share premium evolution  (in 000 €) Share premium 
Date Operation 31.03.09 31.03.08

Previous financial year 7 956 7 956
30.06.08 Contribution in kind in the context of a partial split 1 618
05.09.08 Contribution in kind in the context of a partial split 470

Total share premium 10 045 7 956

note 32

Reserves (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Legal reserves 295 273
Distributable reserves (result on portfolio) 65 129 62 416
Distributable reserves (others) 1 023 876

Total reserves 66 447 63 566

 
The increase of the distributable reserves (result on portfolio) is a result of the revaluation of the properties and of mergers.
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note 33

Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and 
costs resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment 
properties (in 000 €)

31.03.09 31.03.08

Amount at the end of the preceding financial year -8 526 -6 817
Change during the financial year -2 283 -1 710

Total Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs 
resulting from the hypothetical disposal of investment properties -10 809 -8 526

 
As stated in note 22, Retail Estates nv considers its property portfolio as a whole that can be disposed of as a whole or as a 
limited number of larger parts. 

In accordance with valuation at ‘fair value’ from its property expert Cushman & Wakefield, the value of the properties was 
reduced by 2.5% subject to the experts’ expected transaction charges at the disposal of the properties. A limited number of 
specifically identified premises are, according to Retail Estates, very difficult to sell with this property portfolio, because the 
nature and/or location of these buildings mean they would have a negative effect on the value of the portfolio as a whole. 
Since the individual value of these premises lies below the threshold of EUR 2.5 million, the complete transfer costs of the 
region concerned, amounting to 10% or 12%, are deducted. On 1 April 2004, the date of the first application of the IAS/IFRS 
standards, the transfer charges that were deducted from the investment value amounted to EUR 4.9 million. This amount was 
recognised under this item in the shareholders’ equity.

note 34

Change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps -13 820 -740

Total change in fair value of financial assets and liabilites -13 820 -740

 
The group uses financial derivatives (interest rate swaps) to hedge against interest rate risks deriving from operating, financial 
and investment activities. Financial derivatives are initially recognised at cost price and revalued to fair value on subsequent 
reporting dates.

It should be noted that the negative valuation of the financial instruments does not impact Retail Estates’ net result. The 
Bevak classifies the interest rate swaps as cash flow hedging, having ascertained that the hedges were effective, i.e. that 
the amounts and maturities match those of the underlying loan agreements. Cash flow hedging is therefore applied to these 
swaps, as a result of which changes in the value of these swaps are recorded directly to equity without passing through the 
income statement.

note 35

Minority interests (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Minority interests 631

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 158 259 163 984
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NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (1)
note 36

Other non-current liabilities (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Guarantees received in cash
Financial derivatives 14 160 1 459
Other non-current liabilities 19 28
Total other non-current liabilities 14 179 1 487

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 14 179 1 487

(1) This concerns all non-current liabilities except the non-current financial liabilities as described in note 40.  

CURRENT LIABILITIES (1)
note 37

Trade debts and other current debts (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Trade debts 1 330 318
Advances received from tenants
Invoices to be received 2 098 1 829
Taxes payable 440 401
Exit tax 6 155 5 080
Other deferred taxes
Other current debts 276 437

Total trade debts and other current debts 10 298 8 065

note 38

Other current liabilities (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Dividends payable 152 172
Liabilities less than 1 year with related parties
Other 43 14

Total other current liabilities 195 186

note 39

Accrued charges and deferred income (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Other accrued charges 1 095 1 928
Deferred revenues (re- invoicing) 847 649

Total accrued charges and deferred income 1 942 2 578

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES (1) 12 434 10 829

(1) This concerns all current liabilities except the current liabilities described in note 40.  
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note 40

NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT FINANCIAL DEBTS

Breakdown by due date of credit lines (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08
Non-current

Bilateral loans - floating or fixed rate 213 039 151 515
Syndicated loans - floating rate
Medium term notes - floating rate
Investment credits - floating or fixed rate
Overdrafts - floating rate
Financial lease 80 156

Subtotal 213 120 151 671

Current
Bilateral loans - floating or fixed rate 428 5 993
Treasury bills - floating rate
Investment credits - floating or fixed rate
Overdrafts - floating rate
Financial lease 76 144

Subtotal 504 6 137

TOTAL 213 624 157 808

Breakdown by maturity of non-current financial debts  
(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Between 1 and 2 years 4 425 16 680
Between 2 and 5 years 64 558 27 762
More than 5 years 144 137 107 229

Breakdown by the floating or fixed-rate nature of the loans (in 
000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Floating rate loans 168 216 129 757
Fixed rate loans 45 408 28 051

95% of the loans with a floating rate are fully hedged by interest rate swap contracts that swap the floating interest rate 
against against fixed interest rates. See note 41. 
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Retail Estates has the following unused credit facilities (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Expiring within one year 9 525 8 000
Expiring after one year 13 000 7 000

Estimate of the future interest burden
Total future interest burden

31.03.09 31.03.08

< 1 year 10 736 7 762
1-5 years 37 985 26 636
> 5 years 12 999 16 114

TOTAL 61 719 50 512

 
The future interest rate burden is calculated on the basis of the debt situation on 31 March 2009 and the interest rate swaps 
outstanding at that date. For the non-hedged portion of the debts (total of EUR 12 million), account was taken of the Euribor 
on 31 March 2009 + a banking margin.

Analyse van de intrestlasten - intrestsensitiviteit   

The degree to which Retail Estates can finance itself significantly impacts its profitability. Property investment generally 
entails a relatively high level of debt financing. To optimally limit this risk, Retail Estates apples a relatively cautious and 
conservative strategy. Debts are all in the form of long-term loahs, financed with various banks.

All debts are financed at fixed interest rates. Whenever a loan is concluded at a variable interest rate, it is immediately 
converted into a fixed interest rate. 95% of credits are financed in this way. In this way a rise in the interest rate has no 
substantial impact on the total result.   

In principal Retail Estates agrees with its banks a debt covenant of 60%. 

note 41

Financial instruments

Retail Estates classifies interest rate swaps as a cash flow hedge and the fact that the hedging was effective is ascertained. 
Cash flow hedge accounting is therefore applied to these swaps. On this basis, the changes in the value of these swaps are 
recognised directly in the equity capital and are not included in the income statement.

The method for determining the effectiveness of the hedge is as follows:     

Prospective test: at the end of each quarter an examination is made of whether there is still a match in the future between the 
interest rate swap and the underlying financial obligation.     

Retrospective test: the interest paid on the underlying financial obligation is compared with the floating interest cash flow 
from the swap based on ratio analysis. The ratio must lie between 80 and 125.     

The market value of the interest rate swap is EUR 13.820 on 31 March 2009 and is determined on a quarterly basis by the 
issuing financial institution. 
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The fair value of liabilities to banks at 
the reporting date 31.03.09 Per 31.03.08 

(in 000 €) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest Rate Swap 340 14 160 720 1 459

 
Overview of swaps:

1)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 5 000, with a fixed interest rate of 3.135% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from March 2005 to November 2009.     

2)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 37 000, with a fixed interest rate of 4.0475% against euribor 
3 months. The duration is from December 2006 tot December 2016.     

3)  Interest Rate Swap at Fortis bank for a notional amount of EUR 9 916, with a fixed interest rate of 4.14% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from March 2008 to March 2013.     

4)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 6 000, with a fixed interest rate of 4.2075% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from October 2007 to December 2016.     

5)  Interest Rate Swap at Fortis Bank for a notional amount of EUR 13 000, with a fixed interest rate of 4.07% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from March 2007 to September 2013.     

6)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 5 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.08% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from March 2008 to March 2018.     

7)  Interest Rate Swap at Fortis bank for a notional amount of EUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.77% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from July 2007 to July 2017.     

8)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.58% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from August 2007 to July 2015.     

9)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 6 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.39% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from January 2008 to August 2014.     

10)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 20 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.60% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from May 2007 to February 2015.

11)  Interest Rate Swap at ING bank for a notional amount of EUR 14 500, at a fixed interest rate of 4.361% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from June 2008 to June 2015.

12)  Interest Rate Swap at Dexia bank for a notional amount of EUR 10 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.87% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from October 2008 to October 2013.

13)  Interest Rate Swap at Dexia bank for a notional amount of EUR 15 000, at a fixed interest rate of 4.92% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from June 2008 to November 2015.

14)  Interest Rate Swap at KBC bank for a notional amount of EUR 9 300, at a fixed interest rate of 4.52% against euribor 3 
months. The duration is from September 2008 to October 2011.
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note 42

Related parties       

The company’s related parties  are its subsidiaries (note 43), directors and member of the board of directors and executive 
officers.

directors and members of the Board of directors and executive officers    

Board of Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration is entered in the corporate operating costs (see note 11)

(in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Directors 315 250
Members of the Board of Executive officers
 
Total 315 250 

Executive officers and directors do not receive any other benefits from the company.

Retail Estates has no Executive Committee.

note 43

LIST OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES       

The companies below are consolidated by the method of full consolidation       

Name of the company Address Company number Capital share (in %)

Wickes Land Development nv Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 433 783 109 100%
Nithosa 1 NV Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 471 646 068 100%
Belgium Retail 1 N.V. Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 454 133 709 100%
Finsbury Properties N.V. Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 878 249 777 100%
Keerdok Invest N.V. Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 428 634 288 100%
Immo Bartan N.V. Industrielaan 6 - 1740 Ternat 429 343 477 50%

note 44

Auditor’s fee (ex VAT) 31.03.09

Remuneration of the auditor for the audit assignment 126 

Remuneration for exceptional duties or special assignments
 - Other audit assignments  6 
 - Tax consultancy assignments
 - Other assignments outsite the audit assignment  12 



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 88 -

note 45

Acquired real estate companies and property investments       

per 31.03.2008

Purchases and own developments in the 2007-2008 financial year resulted in a EUR 90.51 million increase in property assets. 

Total rental income increased by EUR 3.31 million in 2007-2008 as a result of these investments. If the acquisitions had taken 

place on 1 April 2007, rental income would have increased by EUR 5.75 million. The operating result rose by EUR 2.81 million 

as a result of these investments..

per 31.03.2009 

The purchases and own developments in the 2008-2009 financial year produced a EUR 70.36 million increase in property 

assets. If all these acquisitions had taken place on 1 April 2008, rental income would have increased by EUR 4.83 million.

Sold real estate companies and property investments       

per 31.03.2008

Property company Retail Park Sandweiler was sold during the financial year. The definitive transfer of the shares took place 

on 15 Feburary 2008. This company represented annual rental income of EUR 0.85 million. In the consolidated figures at 31 

March 2008 the Luxembourg company therefore represents EUR 0.74 million of rental income and an operating result of EUR 

0.56 million. The net current result (= net results without portfolio result) amounted to EUR 0.29 million, and the company 

was liable to tax.

A number of non-strategic properties were also sold (sales price = EUR 14 miliion). At 31 March 2009 these represented  

rental income of EUR 1.14 million.

per 31.03.2009

The interest in subsidiary CTM Invest was sold for EUR 0.86 million, including EUR 0.008 million of liquid assets. This 

produced in a EUR 1.91 million reduction in property investments, a EUR - 0.64 million variation in working capital, a EUR 0.64 

million decrease in financial debts and a capital gain on the sale of EUR 0.22 million.

An additional 3 non-strategic properties were sold (sales price = EUR 0.86 million). These consisted of an empty shop 

property, an SME property and an apartment.
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note 46

Events after balance sheet date       

On 30 April 2009 a capital increase was carried out in the framework of the authorised capital, with the Board of Directors 
establishing a capital increase of EUR 10 million. In this transaction 250,000 shares were issued at EUR 40 per share 
(compared with a stock market price of EUR 33.95 on the same date). These were subscribed by a private investor through 
the contribution of 60% of the shares of a real estate company (Solido nv). Subsequently Retail Estates nv purchased 15% of 
the shares of this company for EUR 2.525 million in cash. Retail Estates nv has a purchase option on the remaining 25% of the 
shares of the real estate company at a price of EUR 4.17 million. The valuation of the shares in this transaction was based on 
the investment value as determined by real estate experts Cushman & Wakefield. The shares are entitled to in earnings from 1 
April 2009, being the start of the current financial year. This brings the number of issued shares to 4,095,381.

Through transactions undertaken after balance sheet date the real estate portfolio has been extended by sixty shops, 
generating an annual rental income of EUR 2.64 million. Based on the investment value of these properties – valued by 
Cushman & Wakefield at EUR 34.6 million – this income represents a gross return of 7.63%.

These properties are all in Wallonia, with a strong concentration in the province of Liège. The retail park at Barchon (suburb 
of Liège) is the largest investment with 21 shops. The biggest lessees in this retail park are Delhaize, Lidl, Pointcaré and 
Bricomarché. 

This transaction has increased the investment value of the Retail Estates nv property portfolio, which according to its real 
estate experts had an investment value of around EUR 395 million at 31 March 2009, to EUR 430 million.
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To the shareholders

As required by law and the company’s articles of 

association, we are pleased to report to you on the 

audit assignment which you have entrusted to us. This 

report includes our opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements together with the required additional 

comment.

Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements of RETAIL ESTATES NV (“the 

company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly “the group”), 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as implemented by the Belgian 

Royal Decree of 21 June 2006 with respect to the 

accounting, the annual accounts and the consolidated 

annual accounts of public real estate investment trusts 

and amending the Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 with 

respect to real estate investment trusts and with the 

legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium. 

Those consolidated financial statements comprise 

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2009, 

the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well 

as the summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory notes. The consolidated balance 

sheet shows total assets of 398,496 (000) EUR and the 

consolidated income statement shows a consolidated 

profit (group share) for the year then ended of  

14,003 (000) EUR. 

 

 

The board of directors of the company is responsible 

for the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements. This responsibility includes among other 

things: designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies, and making accounting estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

legal requirements and auditing standards applicable 

in Belgium, as issued by the “Institut des Réviseurs 

d’Entreprises/Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren”. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

 In accordance with these standards, we have 

performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend 

on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, we have considered internal 

control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements in  

STATuToRy AudIToR’S REpoRT To ThE ShAREhoLdERS’ mEETIng on  
ThE ConSoLIdATEd FInAnCIAL STATEmEnTS FoR ThE yEAR EndEd  

31 mARCh 2009
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order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal 

control. We have assessed the basis of the accounting 

policies used, the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the company and the presentation of 

the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole. 

Finally, the board of directors and responsible officers 

of the company have replied to all our requests for 

explanations and information. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained provides a reasonable basis 

for our opinion.

In our opinion,  the consolidated financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the group’s financial 

position as of 31 March 2009, and of its results and 

its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

as implemented by the Belgian Royal Decree of 21 

June 2006 with respect to the accounting, the annual 

accounts and the consolidated annual accounts of 

public real estate investments trusts and amending 

the Royal Decree of 10 April 1995 with respect to 

real estate investment trusts and with the legal and 

regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.

 
 
Additional comment

The preparation and the assessment of the information 

that should be included in the directors’ report on the 

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility 

of the board of directors.

Our responsibility is to include in our report the 

following additional comment which does not change 

the scope of our audit opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements:

•  The directors’ report on the consolidated financial 

statements includes the information required by law 

and is in agreement with the consolidated financial 

statements. However, we are unable to express 

an opinion on the description of the principal risks 

and uncertainties confronting the group, or on the 

status, future evolution, or significant influence of 

certain factors on its future development. We can, 

nevertheless, confirm that the information given is 

not in obvious contradiction with any information 

obtained in the context of our appointment.

Diegem, 29 May 2009

The statutory auditor

dELoITTE Bedrijfsrevisoren / Reviseurs d’Entreprises

Bv o.v.v.e. CvBA / SC s.f.d. SCRL

Represented by Rik neckebroeck
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1. STATuToRy InComE STATEmEnT, RETAIL ESTATES nv

INCOME STATEMENT (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Rental income 20 710 15 699
Rental related expenses -479 -120

NET RENTAL INCOME 20 231 15 579

Recovery of property expenses
Recovery of charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties 1 276 1 013
Charges and taxes normally payable by tenants on let properties -1 395 -1 039

Other rental related income and expenses -14 -25

PROPERTY RESULT 20 097 15 529

Technical costs -464 -250
Commercial costs -36 -33
Charges and taxes on unlet properties -32 -31
Property management costs -514 -328
Other property charges -11 -1

PROPERTY CHARGES -1 056 -643

OPERATING PROPERTY RESULT 19 040 14 885

Operating corporate costs -1 416 -1 273
Other current operating income and expenses

OPERATING RESULT BEFORE RESULT ON THE PORTFOLIO 17 624 13 612

Result on disposals of investment property -65 92
Result on sales of other non-financial assets
Changes in fair value of investment property 6 712 10 653

OPERATING RESULT 24 271 24 356

Financial income 2 892 6 755
Interest charges -9 697 -6 750
Other financial charges -6 182 -193

FINANCIAL RESULT -12 987 -189

RESULT BEFORE TAXES 11 283 24 167

TAXES -31 182

NET RESULT 11 253 24 349
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2. STATuToRy BALAnCE ShEET, RETAIL ESTATES nv

ASSETS (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Non-current assets 371 996 316 502
Goodwill
Intangible assets 177 192
Investment properties 318 039 252 899
Development projects 2 094 4 067
Other tangible fixed assets 333 319
Non-current financial assets 51 338 59 011
Trade receivable and other non-current assets 15 14

Current assets 7 962 10 593
Assets held for sale 6 389
Trade receivables 542 8 010
Tax receivables and other current assets 593 452
Cash and cash equivalents 177 1 605
Deferred charges and accrued income 261 526

TOTAL ASSETS 379 958 327 095

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in 000 €) 31.03.09 31.03.08

Shareholders’ Equity 158 982 165 748
Capital 86 523 84 107
Share premium 10 045 7 956
Reserves 65 453 65 326
Result 18 321 15 980
Impact on fair value of estimated transaction duties and costs resulting 
from the hypothetical disposal of investment properties -8 139 -6 881

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities -13 820 -740

Liabilities 220 976 161 347
Non-current liabilites 215 538 151 254

Provisions
Non-current financial debts 201 378 149 795

Credit institutions 201 298 149 639
Financial lease 80 156

Other non-current liabilities 14 160 1 459

Current liabilities 5 438 10 093
Current financial debts 5 866

Credit institutions 76 5 722
Financial lease 76 144

Trade debts and other current debts 3 453 1 933
Other current liabilities 151 142
Accrued charges and deferred income 1 682 2 152

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 379 958 327 095
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Verviers 
50˚51’34.86”N - 5˚11’43.65”E

Verviers
Boulevard 

des Gérardchamps/ 
118/

10 576m2/
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general information
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”

“	 Retail	Estates	nv	regularly	increases	
its	capital	base	by	issuing	new	shares.
7	capital	increases	over	the	past	11	
years.



RETAIL ESTATES   Annual report 2008 -2009
- 97 -

gEnERAL InFoRmATIon

Name Retail Estates plc

Status Real estate investment company with fixed capital established according 
to Belgium law

Adress Industrielaan 6, B-1740 Ternat, Belgium
Telephone 02/568 10 20

Fax: 02/581 09 42
E-mail info@retailestates.com

Website www.retailestates.com
RPR 0434 797 847

VAT number BE 434 797 847
Incorporated on 12 juli 1988

Status as real estate investment 
company with fixed capital granted on: 27 March 1998

Statutory period of establishment Unlimited
Management Internal

Auditors Deloitte Bedrijfsrevisoren - Louizalaan 240,1050 Brussels, represented by 
Mr Rik Neckebroeck

Financial year closing 31 March
Capital 86,523,056.72 EUR

Number of shares 3,845,381
General Meeting Monday of June

Share listing Euronext - continuous market
Depository bank KBC Bank

Financial services KBC Bank 

Value of real estate portfolio Investment value EUR 400.84 million– fair value EUR 390.03 million  
(inc. value Real Estate certificates “Distri-Land”)

Real estate expert Cushman & Wakefield and CB Richard Ellis
Number of properties 334

Type of properties City periphery retail outlets
Liquidity provider KBC Securities

Contact list

Jan De Nys (jan.denys@retailestates.com) Managing Director-CEO
Kara De Smet (kara.desmet@retailestates.com) CFO
Johan Jansens (johan.janssens@retailestates.com) Property Manager

Bernadette Rossel (bernadette.rossel@retailestates.com) Property Manager
Wilfried Van Laethem (wilfried.vanlaethem@retailestates.com) Accounting Manager

Maaike Dubois (maaike.dubois@retailestates.com) Legal Counsel
Laurence De Bisschop (laurence.debisschop@retailestates.com) Junior Property Manager

Kristine Geboers (kristine.geboers@retailestates.com) Management Assistant
Lindsey De Waegeneer (lindsey.dewaegeneer@retailestates.com) Assistant accountancy


